
Merton Council 
Planning Applications Committee Agenda 
 
Membership 

Councillors:  

Aidan Mundy (Chair) 
Simon McGrath (Vice-Chair) 
Sheri-Ann Bhim 
Michael Butcher 
Edward Foley 
Susie Hicks 
Dan Johnston 
Gill Manly 
Martin Whelton 
Thomas Barlow 
  

Substitute Members: 

Caroline Charles 
Kirsten Galea 
Nick McLean 
Stephen Mercer 
Stuart Neaverson 
Matthew Willis 
 
Date: Thursday 16 March 2023  

Time:   7.15 pm 

Venue:   Council Chamber, Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, SM4 
5DX 

This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and welcomed.   
 
Public meeting can be viewed by following this link 
https://www.youtube.com/user/MertonCouncil 
 
Electronic Agendas, Reports and Minutes 
 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on 
our website. To access this, click https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-
democracy and search for the relevant committee and meeting date. 
 
Agendas can also be viewed on the Mod.gov paperless app for iPads, Android and 
Windows devices. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/MertonCouncil
https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy
https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy


For more information about the agenda please contact 
 
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3356. 
 
All Press contacts: communications@merton.gov.uk or 020 8545 3181 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merton.gov.uk
mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk


Planning Applications Committee Agenda 
16 March 2023  
 
1  Apologies for absence   
 
2  Declarations of Pecuniary Interest   
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting  To 

Follow 
 
4  Town Planning Applications  

The Chair will announce the order of Items at the beginning of 
the Meeting. 
A Supplementary Agenda with any modifications will be 
published on the day of the meeting. 
Note: there is no written report for this item 

 

 
5  115 Kingston Road, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1LT  

Application No: 22/P2865 
Ward: Abbey 
Officer Recommendation: GRANT Planning Permission 
Subject to Conditions and S106 Agreement   

1 - 60 

 
6  310-356 Grand Drive, Raynes Park, London, SW20 9NQ  

Application No: 22/P2855 
Ward: Lower Morden 
Officer Recommendation: GRANT PRIOR APPROVAL subject 
to conditions and S106 legal agreement  

61 - 84 

 
7  153 Links Road, Tooting, London, SW17 9EW  

Application No: 23/P0237  
Ward: Graveney 
Officer Recommendation: Grant planning permission subject to 
conditions 

85 - 106 

 
8  Objection to the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 

2022 at 12 Thurleston Avenue, Morden, SM4 4BW  
107 - 
112 

 
9  Decision Log  

22/P0641 - 47 Strathearn Road, Wimbledon 
 
The Chair of the Planning Applications Committee made the 
decision on 2 March 2023 that the above application should be 
discharged under delegated powers. 
 
The Chair’s comments: The application is an example of the 
use of a small site to deliver a residential building. Concerns 
raised by neighbours for light and overlooking have been 
addressed by officers through condition. Balancing the value 

 



the committee could add to deliberations weighed against the 
scale, mass and number of objections it's the Chair's 
judgement the application should continue under delegated 
track.  

10  Planning Appeal Decisions  
Officer Recommendation: 
That Members note the contents of the report. 

113 - 
116 

 
11  Planning Enforcement - Summary of Current Cases  

Officer Recommendation: 
That Members note the contents of the report. 
  

117 - 
128 

 
12  Glossary of Terms  129 - 

134 

 
Note on declarations of interest 
Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at 
the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during 
the whole of the consideration of that matter and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  For 
further advice please speak with the Managing Director, South London Legal Partnership. 



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
16th March 2023          
        Item No: 
 
UPRN    APPLICATION NO.  DATE VALID 

 
22/P2865   20/09/2022  

     
 
Address/Site: 115 Kingston Road, Wimbledon, SW19 1LT  

    
(Ward)   Abbey 
 
Proposal: DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING BUILDINGS ON THE 

SITE AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 4 STOREY 
BUILDING WITH ACCOMMODATION WITHIN THE 
ROOF COMPRISING OF 7 X SELF-CONTAINED UNITS 
(1 X 3-BED/4PERSON, 5 X 2-BED/3-PERSON, 1 X 1-
BED/1 PERSON) WITH ASSOCIATED REFUSE AND 
CYCLE STORAGE. 

 
Drawing Nos: Planning Statement & Design & Access Statement; 

Daylight & Sunlight Assessment; Energy Sustainability 
Statement; Fire Safety Strategy; 01; 02; 03; 04; 05; 06; 07; 
08; 09; 10; 11; 12; 13; 14; 20 Rev A; 21 Rev A; 22 Rev A; 
23 Rev A; 24 Rev A; 25 Rev A; 26 Rev A; 27 Rev A; & 28 
Rev A. 

 
Contact Officer:  Brenda Louisy-Johnson (0208 545 3169) 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT Planning Permission Subject to Conditions and S106 Agreement  
 
___________________________________________________________  
 
CHECKLIST INFORMATION 
• Heads of agreement: Permit free 
• Is a screening opinion required: No 
• Is an Environmental Statement required: No  
• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No   
• Press notice: No 
• Site notice: No 
• Design Review Panel consulted: No   
• Number of neighbours consulted: 46 
• External consultations: Thames Water 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 
1.1 The application has been brought before the Planning Applications 

Committee due to the nature and number of objections received.  
 

                                                                                                                                              
2.  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1  The application site measures 0.024 hectares and is located on the corner of 

Kingston Road and Palmerston Road. The application site comprises a two 
storey end of terrace building with a former commercial use at ground and first 
floor level. The building comprises yellow stock brick at first floor level and while 
render at ground level.  The site is bounded by a glass balustrade and lean-to 
shed style structure. There is an access from Palmerston Road to the rear of 
the building where there is a small car parking area.  

 
2.2  The properties to the east, fronting Kingston Road, are built of yellow brick and 

have rendered ground floors. The properties are aligned as a terrace. To the 
west of the application site, also on Kingston Road, there is a large 5 storey 
building constructed in 2017 from Yellow London Stock bricks on the lower 
levels then grey zinc on the upper levels consisting of 24 self-contained flats. 
The site has a good PTAL rating of 6A, being sited 200 meters from South 
Wimbledon Underground Station and with a bus stop providing access between 
Colliers Wood to the east and Raynes Park to the west. The site has no local 
plan designations and is not in Flood Zones 2 or 3. 

 
 
3.  CURRENT PROPOSAL 
 
3.1  Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing buildings on the 

site and the construction of a 4 storey building with accommodation within the 
roof comprising of 7 x self-contained residential flats (1 x 3 bed, 5 x 2 bed and 
1 x 1 bed) with associated refuse and cycle storage. 

 
3.2  All flats would have private amenity space in the form of terraces. 11 cycle 

spaces are proposed and bin storage is proposed in the communal area at 
ground floor level. One of the proposed units would be accessed from Kingston 
Road and all the others from the communal entrance in Palmerston Road. Soft 
landscaping is proposed around the front and side of the proposed building. 

 
4.  PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1  The site has planning history dating back to 1968. The most recent planning 

history is given below: 
 
4.2  10/P1394 - CONVERSION OF GROUND FLOOR OFFICE AND FIRST FLOOR 

FLAT TO AN ANTE AND POST-NATAL TREATMENT AND TEACHING 
CENTRE WITH ANCILLARY FACILITIES, INCLUDING TWO STOREY REAR 
EXTENSION, OUTSIDE BUGGY STORE, BIKE STORE, PARKING, AND 
CAFÉ. Grant Permission Subject to Conditions 05/07/2010. 

 

Page 2



4.3  22/P1552 - PRIOR APPROVAL FOR CHANCEE OF USE FROM 
COMMERCIAL, BUSINESS AND SERVICE (USE CLASS E) TO 
DWELLINGHOUSES (USE CLASS C3) CONVERSION OF CAFÉ/YOGA 
STUDIO TO 1 X 3 BEDROOM FLAT AND 1 X 2 BEDROOM FLAT WITH 
ASSOCIATED OUTSIDE PRIVATE AMENITY SPACE, REFUSE AND CYCLE 
STORAGE AND OFF-STREET CAR PARKING. Prior Approval Granted 
26/09/2022.  

 
5.  CONSULTATIONS 
 

Neighbouring properties were consulted via letter. 13 neighbour 
representations have been received objecting to the proposal. One of the 
neighbour representations is from No.110 Palmerston Road and the other 12 
representations form a petition from the occupants of 12 flats in Vertex 
Apartments on the corner of Palmerton Road and Kingston Road to the west of 
the site.  

 
Reasons for objection: 
 

• Loss of light to the side window of 110 Palmerston Road leading to reduction in 
living standard of neighbour and loss of value of property. 

• The submitted daylight and sunlight assessment states that the vertical sky 
component is below the recommend 27. 

• The current building is occupied for commercial purposes any new use should 
also be commercial. 

• The building will result in high population density and this cannot be supported 
by the local infrastructure. 

• Increased need for street parking which will exacerbate the existing problem 
parking situation. 

• There is no place for the bins to be stored on collection days and they will end 
up on the pavement.  

• The proposed building will create overlooking to the Vertex Apartments 
opposite in Palmerston Road.  

• The building needs a lay-down parking space for deliveries, without this delivery 
vans etc will wait by the curb near to the road junction and this will cause 
nuisance for Vertex residents in terms of noise, access to the car hoist entrance 
and the side entrance to the block.  

• Noise, disruption and pollution would be caused by construction works.  
• The brick colour is yellower than found on Palmerston Road. 
• Mailboxes opening onto the pavement are liable to be vandalised and their 

contents stolen. 
• The type of cladding is likely to cause issues - the installation needs to be 

designed and built in compliance with building regulations, BS competence 
standards and manufacturer's installation guidance, and certified to the relevant 
building safety standard. 

• The council needs to specify commonhold tenure only for any residential parts, 
in line with government reforms. 
 
The Wimbledon Society 

Page 3



 
• The Wimbledon Society is pleased to see that the developer has respected the 

heights of the neighbouring buildings when designing this block of flats. The 
Society would ask that before the building is demolished a photographic survey 
is taken of any surviving fitments of an historic nature. 

 
 

Consultee comments: 
 

Thames Water 
 

No comments have been received.  
 

Climate Change Officer 
 

No objection subject to the following condition: 
 

1) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority confirming that the development has achieved CO2 reductions in line 
with those set out in the approved Energy & Sustainability Statement (dated 
14th July 2022) and internal water consumption rates of no greater than 105 
litres per person per day. 

 
Environmental Health Officer (land contamination) 

 
No objection subject to the following conditions: 

 
1) No development shall occur until a preliminary risk-assessment is 
submitted to the approval of the LPA. Then an investigation conducted to 
consider the potential for contaminated-land and shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014.  

 
2) No development shall occur until a remediation method statement, 
described to make the site suitable for, intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to sensitive receptors, and shall be submitted to and approved 2 in writing 
by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014.  

 
3) Prior to first occupation, the remediation shall be completed and a 
verification report, produced on completion of the remediation, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

 

Page 4



Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014. 

 
 

Environmental Health Officer (noise and nuisance)  
 

The following conditions have been advised: 
 

1) Prior to the commencement of the development and due to the potential 
impact of the surrounding locality on the residential development, a scheme for 
protecting residents from noise shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to the development commencing. The 
scheme shall be based on Good Acoustic Design based upon ProPG: Planning 
and Noise - Professional Practice Guide, Publ: (ANC, IOA, CIEH) May 2017 (or 
any revision) as a minimum. The scheme is to include acoustic data for the 
glazing system and ventilation systems.  

 
The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details. A post verification report associated in relation to the mitigation 
implemented and internal noise levels shall be submitted to the LPA for 
approval.  

 
2) No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local Environmental 
Health planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period.  

 
The Statement shall provide for:  

 
" hours of operation  
" the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
" loading and unloading of plant and materials  
" storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
" the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative  
" displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
" wheel washing facilities 
" measures to control the emission of noise and vibration during 
construction.  
" measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction/demolition  
" a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works 

 
Flood Risk / Drainage Officer 

 
Initial comments: 

 
We would expect them to set their finished floor levels at least 300mm about 
the ground level to avoid any potential surface flood waters from entering the 

Page 5



property. They need to provide the levels / topographical survey they carried 
out along with the finished floor level so we can check if they have met the 
minimum criteria. If they have we can easily put a condition on it.  

 
Final comments: 

 
The following conditions and informatives are advised - 

 
Conditions: 

 
1) Prior to the commencement a detailed scheme for the provision of 
surface and foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The drainage scheme will dispose of surface 
water by means of a sustainable drainage system (SuDS)), in accordance with 
drainage hierarchy contained within the London Plan Policy (SI 13 and SPG) 
and the advice contained within the National SuDS Standards.   
Reason: To reduce the risk of surface and foul water flooding to the proposed 
development and future users and ensure surface water and foul flood risk does 
not increase offsite in accordance with Merton's Core Strategy 2011 Policy 
CS16, Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 Policy DMF2 and the London Plan 
2021 Policy SI 13. 

 
2) The finished floor levels of the development shall be set no lower than 
12.35mAODN.  
Reason: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding to the proposed 
development and future users, in accordance with Merton's Core Strategy 2011 
Policy CS16, Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 Policy DMF2 and the 
London Plan 2021 Policy SI 13. 

 
Informatives:  

 
1) No surface water runoff should discharge onto the public highway 
including the public footway or highway. When it is proposed to connect to a 
public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at the final 
manhole nearest the boundary.   Where the developer proposes to discharge 
to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will 
be required (contact no. 0845 850 2777). 

  
2) No waste material, including concrete, mortar, grout, plaster, fats, oils 
and chemicals shall be washed down on the highway or disposed of into the 
highway drainage system. 

 
Highway Officer 

 
No objection subject to the following conditions and informatives: 

 
Conditions - 

 

Page 6



1) Development shall not commence until a working method statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
accommodate: 

 
    (i) Parking of vehicles of site workers and visitors; 
    (ii) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
    (iii) Storage of construction plant and materials; 
    (iv) Wheel cleaning facilities 
    (v) Control of dust, smell and other effluvia; 
    (vi) Control of surface water run-off. 
 

No development shall be carried out except in full accordance with the 
approved method statement. 

 
2) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a 
Construction Logistics Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved measures shall be implemented prior 
to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall be so 
maintained for the duration of the use, unless the prior written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority is first obtained to any variation. 

 
Informatives - 

 
1) You are advised to contact the Council's Highways team on 020 8545 
3700 before undertaking any works within the Public Highway to obtain the 
necessary approvals and/or licences. Please be advised that there is a further 
charge for this work. If your application falls within a Controlled Parking Zone 
this has further costs involved and can delay the application by 6 to 12 months. 

 
2) Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the 
developer, whether they are located on, or affecting a prospectively 
maintainable highway, as defined under Section 87 of the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public highway, shall be co-
ordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 
and the Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order to 
secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of 
the highway network in Merton. Any such works or events commissioned by the 
developer and particularly those involving the connection of any utility to the 
site, shall be co-ordinated by them in liaison with the London Borough of 
Merton, Network Coordinator, (telephone 020 8545 3976). This must take place 
at least one month in advance of the works and particularly to ensure that 
statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are co-ordinated to take 
place wherever possible at the same time. 

 
Transport Planner 

 
Site and Surroundings: The application site has a PTAL rating of 6b, which 
means it has excellent access to public transport. The streets in the vicinity of 
the Site fall in the W4 Controlled Parking Zone with restrictions in place between 

Page 7



830am and 11pm Monday through Saturday and between 2pm and 6pm on 
Sunday.  

 
Car Parking: The application provides no off-site car parking. Therefore, in 
order to minimise impact upon surrounding streets it is considered appropriate 
in this instance the development is permit free. The appellant will be required 
to enter into a Sec.106 agreement with the Council to ensure the development 
is permit free and no resident within the development can apply for an on-street 
parking permit in the surrounding parking zones. 

 
Cycle Parking: The proposal would require 13 cycle parking spaces (secure & 
undercover) in accordance with the London Plan Standards.  

 
Refuse: Given there is an already established collection route along this road, 
it is not considered the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the waste 
collection services in the area.  

 
Recommendation: The proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
adjoining highway. Raise no objection subject to:  

 
• The applicant enters into a Unilateral Undertaking which would restrict future 

occupiers of all units from obtaining an on-street residential parking permit to 
park in the surrounding controlled parking zones to be secured by via S106 
legal agreement.  

• Cycle parking (secure & undercover) in accordance with the London Plan 
standards. 

• Demolition/Construction Logistic Plan (including a Construction Management 
plan in accordance with TfL guidance) should be submitted to LPA for approval 
before commencement of work. 

 
 
6.  POLICY CONTEXT 
 
6.1  National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport  
Section 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
Section 11 Making effective use of land  
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places 

 
6.2  London Plan (2021)  

GG4 Delivering the homes Londoners need 
D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
D4 Delivering good design 
D6 Housing quality and standards 
D10 Basement development 
D12 Fire safety 
D14 Noise 

Page 8



H1 Increasing housing supply 
H2 Small sites 
H10 Housing size mix 
SI 1 Improving air quality  
SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
SI 12 Flood risk management 
SI 13 Sustainable drainage 
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
T5 Cycling 
T6 Car parking 
T6.1 Residential parking 
T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 

 
6.3  Merton Local Development Framework Core Strategy (2011): 

CS 8 Housing choice 
CS 9 Housing provision 
CS 11 Infrastructure 
CS 14 Design 
CS 15 Climate change 
CS 16 Flood Risk Management 
CS 17 Waste management 
CS 18 Transport 
CS 20 Parking servicing and delivery 

 
6.4  Merton Sites and Policies Plan (2014): 

DM H2 Housing mix 
DM H3 Support for affordable housing 
DM C1 Community facilities 
DM D1 Urban Design 
DM D2 Design considerations 
DM EP2 Reducing and mitigating noise 
DM E3 Protection of scattered employment sites 
DM F1 Support for flood risk management 
DM F2 SuDS and waste water 
DM T2 Transport impacts of development 
DM T3 Car parking and servicing standards 

 
6.5  Supplementary planning documents: 

DCLG Technical Housing Standards 2015 
London Plan Housing SPG 2016 
Mayor's Sustainable Design and Construction SPG 2014 
Merton's Small Sites Toolkit 2021 
Merton's Design SPG 2021 
Waste and Recycling Storage Requirements - A Guidance for Architects  

 
7.  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The key planning considerations include: 
Principle of Development; 

Page 9



Design (massing, scale, height; appearance, siting and layout; cycle and bin 
storage; landscaping)          
Housing Mix;     
Standard of Accommodation;     
Neighbouring Amenity;      
Car and Cycle Parking;   
Fire Safety;     
Flood Risk; 
Air Quality; and     
Sustainability.     

 
7.  Principle of Development 
 
7.2  The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and London Plan policies 

promote sustainable development that encourages the construction of 
additional dwellings at locations with good public transport accessibility. Core 
Strategy policies CS8 & CS9 seek to encourage proposals for well-designed 
and conveniently located new housing that will create socially mixed and 
sustainable neighbourhoods through physical regeneration and effective use of 
space. 

 
7.3  Planning Policy H1 (Increasing housing supply) of the adopted London Plan 

2021 has significantly increased Merton's housing target over a 10 year period 
(2019/20 -2028/29) to 9,180 new homes. This is equates to 918 homes 
annually, an increase of 507 compared to the former target (411) set out in 
Merton's current Sites and Polices Plan. The new target therefore seeks to 
deliver more than double the former annual target. This sets Merton a 
challenging target to deliver the expected number of new homes that London 
needs to meet demand. 

 
7.4  The application site has an area of 0.024 ha. The application site is therefore 

considered to fall under planning policy H2 (Small Sites) of the London Plan 
2021. Following on from the housing targets set out above, small sites are 
expected to deliver 2,610 new homes over the 10 year period (2019/20 -
2028/29). Policy H2 sets out that for London to deliver more of the housing it 
needs, small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size) must make a substantially 
greater contribution to new supply across the city. Therefore, increasing the 
rate of housing delivery from small sites is a strategic priority. Achieving this 
objective will require positive and proactive planning by boroughs both in terms 
of planning decisions and plan-making. 

 
7.5  The borough's Core Planning Strategy states that that it is expected that the 

delivery of new residential accommodation in the borough will be achieved in 
various ways including development in 'sustainable brownfield locations' and 
"ensuring that it is used efficiently" (supporting text to Policy CS9). The 
application site is on brownfield land and is in a sustainable location adjacent 
to other existing residential properties. The existing use of the site comprises 
café and yoga studio. Policy DM E3 outlines that proposals that result in the 
loss of scattered employment sites will be resisted, except where: 

Page 10



i) The site is located in a predominantly residential area and it can be 
demonstrated that its operation has had significant adverse effect on local 
residential amenity; 

ii) The size, configuration, access arrangements and other characteristics of 
he site makes it unsuitable and financially unviable for whole-site 
employment use; and  

iii) It has been demonstrated to the council’s satisfaction that there is no 
realistic prospect of employment or community use on this site in the future. 
This may be demonstrated by full ad proper marketing of the site at 
reasonable process for a period of 30 months (2.5 years).  

 
7.6  Policy DM E3 seeks to protect scattered employment sites and whilst the site 

would fall within this category, consent has previously been granted for a 
change of use to both floors of the building to residential development under 
Prior Approval application 22/P1552. Officers note the following comments on 
the existing building uses from the officer report for 22/P1552: 

 
‘The building has been vacant for a continuous period of over 3 months 
immediately prior to the date of this application for prior approval. The applicant 
has submitted a letter from estate agent and evidence that the site has been 
marketed since March 2020.’ 

 
7.7  The building is currently vacant and the above marketing referred to 

demonstrated that it had no uptake for its lawful uses. In light of the above, 
considerable planning weight must therefore be given to the previous consent 
under Prior Approval and the benefits of the delivery of new homes as part of 
the planning application process. The application site is located on a brownfield 
site within a mixed residential and commercial location with nearby amenities 
and a high PTAL of 6A.  

 
7.8  The site is considered to be in a good location that would promote sustainable 

development. The redevelopment of the site would bring forward 7 new 
residential units which will make a modest contribution to meeting housing 
targets and would provide a good mix of unit sizes that will assist in the delivery 
of a mixed and balanced community in a sustainable location.  

 
7.9  Five year land supply  
 
7.10  Merton currently does not have a five-year supply of deliverable housing. It is 

therefore advised that members should consider this position as a significant 
material consideration in the determination of planning applications proposing 
additional homes. The NPPF 2021 outlines that:  Where local planning 
authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, 
relevant decisions should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. This means that for planning applications involving the provision 
of housing, it should be granted permission unless:  

 
• the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

Page 11



 
• any adverse effect of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole.  

 
7.11  In real terms, if Merton continues to not meet its housing supply, then greater 

weight will need to be given to delivering more housing in the planning balance. 
Therefore, it is important that the Council seeks to deliver new housing now and 
make the most efficient use of sites to deliver new homes with appropriately 
designed buildings. The scheme is considered to make the most efficient use 
of the site with a good quality development that respects the character and 
appearance of the area without being harmful. The additional units created on 
the site will make a valuable contribution towards Merton meeting its housing 
targets. 

 
7.12  Therefore, the principle of development of the 7 residential units is considered 

acceptable.  
 
8.  Design/visual amenity 
 
8.1  Planning policy DM D2 (Design considerations in all developments) of Merton's 

Sites and Policies Plan seeks to achieve high quality design and protection of 
amenity within the Borough. Proposals for all development will be expected to 
relate positively and appropriately to the siting, rhythm, scale, density, 
proportions, height, materials and massing of surrounding buildings and 
existing street patterns, historic context, urban layout and landscape features 
of the surrounding area. 

 
8.2  Demolition 
 
8.3  The existing building within the site to be demolished is of no particular 

architectural merit and its loss will therefore, have little impact on the visual 
amenity of the local area. The building on site is not listed or locally listed and 
its loss is not objected to by officers, subject to a suitable building replacement 
being acceptable.  

 
8.4  Massing, scale and height 
 
8.5  Officers consider that the proposal makes affective use of the land by positively 

and appropriately relating to the siting, rhythm, scale, density, proportions, 
height, materials and massing of surrounding buildings. In terms of the 
surroundings, the application site is surrounded by traditional two storey terrace 
and semi-detached houses with a 5-storey modern development on the 
opposite side of Palmerstone Road. The increase in height of the buildings on 
the corner of Kingston Road and Palmerston Road from 2 storeys to 4 storeys 
is more prominent for this corner location. The proposed building would be 
slightly taller than the adjoining building and its fourth storey would be set back 
from the edges of the storey below, meaning that the building would have less 
of an impact on street scene and the overall bulk and mass would be sufficiently 
broken up. This is particularly the case in Palmerston Road which is a narrower 

Page 12



road and where the proposed building is opposite a 5-storey block of flats. 
Setting the fourth and third floors back away from the edges of the lower storeys 
mitigates any sense of enclosure and feeling of overbearingness experienced 
at street level.  Overall, officers are satisfied that the height and massing of the 
proposal would relate well to its surroundings and both the street scenes of 
Kingston Road and Palmerston Road.  

 
8.6  Appearance, siting and layout 
 
8.7  The proposed building makes more effective use of the site than the existing 

building with greater plot coverage, but still retaining the access at the rear. The 
current site benefits form an area of hardstanding at the rear currently used for 
car parking. Further, there is space to the side of the building which is currently 
under-utilised. The proposed building would extend over these areas, utilising 
these under-utilised spaces. The proposed building would be similar in 
appearance to the adjacent 5-storey block of flats in terms of the materials 
proposed for its external appearance (yellow brick the lower storey elevations 
and zinc for the highest storey). The size of many of the window openings are 
the same. Also the main communal entrance way to both buildings is in 
Palmerston Road. the proposal is considered to make best use of the site, 
whilst providing good layouts for each flat and making provision for outdoor 
space for each flat. The use of set backs to the 3rd and 4th floors helps provide 
visual interest to the building. Overall, the proposed materials and layout of the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable to the site and surroundings.  

 
8.8  Landscaping 
 
8.9  The size constraints of the site limit the extent to which soft landscaping can be 

provided within the site. However, through thoughtful design, small areas of soft 
landscaping would be provided along the edges of the development in Kingston 
Road and Palmerston Road to soften the appearance of the development at 
street level. A condition seeking final details is to be recommended and 
secured.  

 
9.  Housing Mix 
 
9.1  Planning policy DM D2 (Housing Mix) of Merton's Sites and Polices Plan seeks 

to create socially mixed communities, catering for all sectors of the community 
by providing a choice of housing with respect to dwelling size and type in the 
borough. The borough level indicative proportions concerning housing mix (as 
set out below) will be applied having regard to relevant factors including 
individual site circumstances, site location, identified local needs, economics of 
provision such as financial viability and other planning contributions. 

 
9.2  Table in Planning policy DM H2 (Housing Mix) of Merton's Sites and Policies 

Plan 2014: 
 

Number of bedrooms Percentage of Units 
One    33% 
Two     32% 

Page 13



Three +   35% 
 
9.3  The proposed development would deliver 1 x 1 bedroom units, 5 x 2 bedroom 

units and 1 x 3 bedroom units. The proposed development would therefore 
generate a percentage housing mix as follows: 

 
9.4  Number of bedrooms Percentage Units 

One    14% 
Two     72% 
Three +   14% 

 
9.5  The proposal does not strictly meet the housing mix requirements, however the 

Borough level is indicative having regard to the site circumstances, site location 
and economic provision such as financial viability. The site is a small site, with 
surrounding constraints restricting outlook, layout and height. The proposal 
would have a central core and set backs at 3rd and 4th floor level. Further, the 
proposal provides outdoor space for each unit. The above factors hinder the 
layouts of the units and ability to provide the exact mix under policy. Officers 
note, however, that the 3-bed unit proposed is split level and would provide 
good standard of accommodation. The proposal is considered to offer a 
reasonable range of unit sizes, including 5 small family sized accommodation 
(2-bed units) and 1 larger family sized accommodation (3-bed unit). The 
proposal is considered to provide a good range of flats and the proposed mix 
is therefore considered to be acceptable.  

 
10.  Standard of Accommodation 
 
10.1  Core Planning Policy CS 14 and SPP policies DM D1 and DM D2 seek to 

ensure that new residential development is of a high standard of design both 
internally and externally and provides accommodation capable of adaptation 
for an ageing population and for those with disabilities, whilst offering a mix of 
unit size reflective of local need. 

 
10.2  Planning Policy D6 (Housing quality and standards) of the adopted London Plan 

2021 states that housing development should be of high-quality design and 
provide adequately sized rooms with comfortable and functional layouts which 
are fit for purpose and meet the needs of Londoners without differentiating 
between tenures. The design of development should provide sufficient daylight 
and sunlight for future occupiers, have   adequate and easily accessible storage 
space and maximise the provision of dual aspect dwellings (normally avoiding 
the provision of single aspect dwellings). 

 
10.3  Space Standards 
 
10.4  The internal floorspace for all 7 units have been assessed against the 

'Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard' document. 
Each unit exceeds the minimum floorspace standards and are therefore 
deemed to be fit for purpose and will provide suitable levels of residential 
amenity for future occupants. 

 

Page 14



10.5  Natural light, Ventilation and Outlook 
 
10.6  The development has been designed so that all habitable rooms would have 

good levels of outlook, light and ventilation. The large window/door openings 
serving each of the main living spaces of the flats would ensure a high-quality 
environment for future occupiers. 

 
10.6  Dual Aspect 
 
10.7  Dual aspect units have many inherent benefits, including better daylight, a 

greater chance of direct sunlight for longer periods, cross ventilation, a choice 
of views, access to a quiet side of the building, and greater flexibility in the use 
of rooms. A dual aspect dwelling is one with opening windows on two external 
walls, which may be on opposite sides of the building or around a corner.  

 
Planning Policy D6 (Housing quality and standards) seeks to maximise the 
provision of dual aspect dwellings. While only four flats in this development 
achieves dual aspect to the main living rooms, this is acceptable given the site 
constraints and the lack of scope to provide dual aspect rooms in a 
development of this size.  

 
10.8  Provision of Amenity Space 
 
10.9  In accordance with Policy DMD2 of the Council's Sites and Policies Plan and 

the London Plan 2021, that there should be 5sqm of external space provided 
for 1 and 2 person flats with an extra square metre provided for each additional 
occupant. The ground floor flat would be provided with outdoor amenity space 
by a garden, the flats on the upper floors will all have balconies, all of which 
meet or exceed the minimum size requirement. 

 
11.  Neighbouring Amenity 
 
11.1  SPP Policy DM D2 states that proposals must be designed to ensure that they 

would not have an undue negative impact upon the amenity of neighbouring 
properties in terms of natural light (sunlight and daylight), outlook, privacy, 
noise, visual intrusion and quality of living conditions. 

 
11.2  Sunlight and Daylight  
 
11.3  The Applicants have submitted a daylight and sunlight report assessing the 

impact of the proposed buildings on neighbouring properties. 28 habitable room 
windows in the neighbouring residential properties of 110 Palmerston Road, 
Vertex Mews Palmerston Road, 112, 113 and 116A Kingston Road and 
Hamilton Mews were assessed. The report concludes that during the design 
process the implications of the proposed massing on neighbouring daylight was 
carefully considered such that in almost all instances the numerical values set 
out within the BRE guidelines relating to buildings receiving adequate daylight 
have been achieved, apart from in the case a small standalone kitchen, would 
not ordinarily be considered a habitable room in line with Merton Planning 
Policy Guidance. Likewise the design process also considered the implications 

Page 15



of the development would have on neighbouring properties sunlight and the 
report demonstrates that neighbouring properties will still enjoy a good level of 
sunlight.  

 
11.4  Overlooking / Privacy 
 
11.5  There has been an objection from the residents of the 5-storey adjacent block 

of flats that there would be overlooking from the proposed development to the 
windows of the elevation in Palmerston Road. However, it is considered that 
there is sufficient distance between the buildings and given the elevations are 
within the public realm and on the opposite side of the road, a certain level of 
overlooking expected. 

 
11.6  The windows in the rear elevation of the proposed building overlook a side 

window at No. 110 Palmerston Road. However, this is a window to landing on 
a stairway and not a habitable room window. Therefore, any overlooking in this 
instance is not considered to be harmful. the proposed bulk and mass of the 
building would not extend beyond the rear building line of 110 Palmerston 
Road. Further, a good separation distance would remain due to the separation 
of the vehicle access to the rear of the site and 110. Further, the 3rd and f4th 
floor rear outdoor terraces have been set back further from the rear building line 
of 110 which helps mitigate visual interaction between the occupiers of 110 and 
the outdoor terraces. Officers acknowledge that that proposal would officer 
some elevated views from windows and raised terraces to the rear garden of 
110, however, these would be at oblique angles and within a built up 
environment (such as the application site location) this would be inevitable and 
common.  

 
11.7  113 Kingston Road comprises a split level ground and first floor flat with front 

and rear outlook. Officers note there is a planning permission pending under 
ref 19/P2448 to extend at the rear to create two flats. Officers have reviewed 
this neighbouring proposal and the current proposal would not cause harm to 
the future occupiers of such flats should it get approved due to the flank walls 
having limited windows. Taking into account the current situation, officers 
acknowledge that the proposal would result in an increase sense of enclosure 
and effect the outlook from the rear facing windows at 113. However, the 
proposal has been designed so that as the rear section of the proposed building 
extends deeper into the plot, it moves further away from the adjoining boundary 
with 113. The 3rd and 4th floor would also be stepped further away than the 
floors below further mitigating the impact.  

 
11.8  Overall, officers are satisfied hat the proposal would not cause harm to 

neighbouring residential amenity and is complaint with Policy DM D2 in this 
regard.    

 
12.  Car and Cycle Parking 
 
12.1  London Plan Policy T6 states that car-free development should be the starting 

point for all development proposals in places that are well served by public 
transport. Adequate provision should be made for efficient deliveries and 

Page 16



servicing and emergency access. Policy T6.1 states that new residential 
development should not exceed the maximum parking standards. The 
maximum parking standards for developments in outer London with PTAL 2-3 
are 0.75 spaces per 1-2 bed dwellings and 1 space per 3+ bed dwellings. 

 
12.2  Merton's Sustainable Transport SPG 2004 requires 1 car parking space per 1-

2 bedroom dwellings plus 1 space per 4 dwellings for communal use. 2 spaces 
are required for 3-4 bedroom dwellings and 5+ bedroom developments are 
negotiable. However, Sites and Policies Plan Policy DM T3 requires 
development to only provide the level of car parking required to serve the site 
taking into account its accessibility by public transport (PTAL) and local 
circumstances in accordance with London Plan standards unless a clear need 
can be demonstrated. 

 
12.3  This development provides no on-site car parking provision. Given the high 

PTAL of 6A, it is appropriate for the development to be car permit free requiring 
the Applicant to enter into a section 106 unilateral agreement with the Council.  

 
12.4  Policy T5 (Cycling) of the London Plan 2021 states that development proposals 

should help remove barriers to cycling and create a healthy environment in 
which people choose to cycle. Policy T5 requires the provision of appropriate 
levels of cycle parking, at least in accordance with the minimum standards. For 
residential long-stay parking, 1 long-stay space per studio or 1 person 1 
bedroom dwelling, 1.5 long-stay spaces per 2 person 1 bedroom dwelling and 
2 long-stay spaces per all other dwellings are required. Additionally, 2 short-
stay spaces are required for 5-40 dwellings and, thereafter, 1 short-stay space 
per 40 dwellings. There is cycle storage and bin storage within the ground floor 
communal area, also uncovered cycle storage within the private garden of one 
of the ground floor flats. 12 cycle spaces are provided within the communal area 
and 2 spaces within the private garden. Officers are satisfied that the policy 
level of cycle parking can be accommodated on site and a condition will be 
recommended securing this. 

 
12.5  Two 1100 litre euro bins for recycling and refuse and a bin for food waste are 

provided, which is the compliant amount of bin storage required under the 
Council’s Bin and Recycling Storage Guidance. 

 
13.  Fire Safety 
 
13.1  Planning Policy D12 (Fire Safety) of the London Plan 2021 highlights that the 

fire safety of developments should be considered from the outset. How a 
building will function in terms of fire, emergency evacuation, and the safety of 
all users should be considered at the earliest possible stage to ensure the most 
successful outcomes are achieved, creating developments that are safe and 
hat Londoner's can have confidence living in and using.  

 
13.2  The Applicant has complied with the above policy and submitted a fire strategy 

detailing the fire safety measures that would be taken. However, fire safety 
would be formally considered at Building Control stage to see whether it fully 
complies with building regulations.  

Page 17



 
14.  Flood Risk / Drainage 
 
14.1  London Plan policies SI 12 (Flood risk management) and SI 13 (Sustainable 

drainage), Core Planning Strategy policy CS16 and SPP policies DM F1 and 
DM F2 seek to minimise the impact of flooding on residents and the 
environment and promote the use of sustainable drainage systems to reduce 
the overall amount of rainfall being discharged into the drainage system and 
reduce the borough’s susceptibility to surface water flooding.  

 
14.2  The application site is not within a Flood Risk Zone, however, the Council’s 

Flood Risk Officer has requested details of finished floor levels to avoid any 
potential surface flood waters from entering the property. They have also 
advised conditions relating to this and the submission of a detailed scheme for 
the provision of surface and foul water drainage.  

 
15.  Air Quality     
 
15.1  Planning Policy SI 1 (Improving air quality) of the London Plan 2021 seeks to 

tackle poor air quality and protect health. 
 
15.2  The development is Air Quality Neutral according to the London Plan Policy SI1 

Improving Air Quality Part B(2)(a) and Part E as follows: there is no new 
combustion car parking as part of the proposed development and the proposal 
specifically results in the loss of on-site car parking. Further, a Construction 
Method Statement (recommended by the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer) would capture measures as to how emissions and dust would be 
controlled during the construction process. This would be controlled via 
condition.  

16.  Sustainability 

16.1  All new developments comprising the creation of new dwellings should 
demonstrate how the development will comply with Merton’s Core Strategy 
(2011) Policy CS15 Climate Change (parts a-d) and the policies outlined in 
Chapter 9 (Sustainable infrastructure) of the new London Plan. 

 
16.2  The Applicant has submitted a sustainability statement which details the 

sustainability measures incorporated in the development and others which 
have been considered and which are not appropriate. The development will 
need to achieve internal water usage rates not exceeding 105 litres per person 
per day. CO2 emissions for the proposed development would be assessed 
under Approved Document Part L1A of Building Regulations. Renewable 
energy is proposed in the form of photovoltaic cells on the roof of the proposed 
development. Part L of Building Regulations was updated (Part L 2021) and 
Part L 2021 is estimated to represent a 31% improvement against Part L 2013. 
As a result, the new Part L 2021 exceeds the 19% improvement against Part L 
2013 target which Merton requires for minor schemes. Therefore, better 

Page 18



improvements to building standards will now be controlled under building 
control regulations, however under planning, we will still need to see evidence 
of meeting Merton’s internal water use rate of 105 Litres per person per day for 
minor residential schemes. In order to secure this requirement, a planning 
condition can be attached requiring evidence that the development has met this 
standard. 

 

17.  Biodiversity  

17.1  Planning Policy G6 of the London Plan sets out that development proposals 
should manage impacts on biodiversity and aim to secure net biodiversity gain, 
including sites not within areas of special protection. Planning Policy DM O2 
(Nature conservation, trees, hedges and landscape features) of Merton’s Sites 
and Polices Plan seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity. Policy CS13 of the 
Core Planning Strategy requires proposals for new dwellings in back gardens 
must justify the impact on biodiversity value of the site. 

17.2  It is considered the biodiversity value of the existing site is very limited, however 
as part of the development of the site, further details of biodiversity features can 
be controlled via a planning condition so that there is some biodiversity value 
delivered. Officers note that the proposal incorporates and allows space for soft 
landscaping. It is considered that an enhancement can be achieved as part of 
the proposal and a condition securing this is recommended.  

 

18.  ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

18.1  The application does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. 
Accordingly, there are no requirements in terms of EIA submission.  

 

19.  LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

19.1  Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
provides that a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance 
consideration as far as it is material. The weight to be attached to a local finance 
consideration remains a matter for the decision maker. The Mayor of London's 
CIL and Merton CIL are therefore material considerations. On initial 
assessment this development is considered liable for the Mayoral and Merton 
CIL. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The principle of development is considered to be acceptable by maximizing the 
potential of the site, helping Merton deliver its increased housing targets and re-
developing a brownfield site. The standard of residential accommodation is considered 
to offer good accommodation that would meet the needs of future occupiers. Each flat 

Page 19



would have access to suitable amenity spaces and have good outlook. The proposed 
building is considered to be of a suitable height, scale and design, making a positive 
contribution to the streetscenes of Kingston Road and Palmerston Road. The proposal 
is considered to be of a suitable design which would not cause harm to surrounding 
neighbouring amenity. The proposals are therefore considered to be in accordance 
with Adopted Sites and Policies Plan, Core Planning Strategy and London Plan 
policies. It is considered that the proposal is acceptable with respect to all planning 
considerations and would comply with all relevant planning policies. As such it is 
recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to conditions and S106 
Agreement.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
Grant Permission Subject to Section 106 Obligation or any other enabling agreement.
      
     
 
Conditions: 
1 The development to which this permission relates shall be commenced not 

later than the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. 
 

  
Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: Planning Statement & Design & Access 
Statement; Daylight & Sunlight Assessment; Energy Sustainability 
Statement; Fire Safety Strategy; 01; 02; 03; 04; 05; 06; 07; 08; 09; 10; 11; 
12; 13; 14; 20 Rev A; 21 Rev A; 22 Rev A; 23 Rev A; 24 Rev A; 25 Rev A; 
26 Rev A; 27 Rev A; & 28 Rev A. 

 

  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

 

3 The facing materials to be used for the development hereby permitted shall 
be those specified in the application form unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

  
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development and to 
comply with the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies D4 
and D8 of the London Plan 2021, policy CS14 of Merton's Core Planning 
Strategy 2011 and policies DM D2 and D3 of Merton's Sites and Policies 
Plan 2014. 
 

 

4 No development shall take place until details of the surfacing of all those 
parts of the site not covered by buildings or soft landscaping, including any 
parking, service areas or roads, footpaths, hard and soft have been 
submitted in writing for approval by the Local Planning Authority. No works 
that are the subject of this condition shall be carried out until the details are 
approved, and the development shall not be occupied / the use of the 

 

Page 20



development hereby approved shall not commence until the details have 
been approved and works to which this condition relates have been carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance 
with the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policy D4 of the 
London Plan 2021, policy CS14 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 2011 
and policies DM D1 and D2 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

 

5 No development shall take place until details of all boundary walls or 
fences are submitted in writing for approval to the Local Planning Authority. 
No works which are the subject of this condition shall be carried out until 
the details are approved, and the development shall not be occupied / the 
use of the development hereby approved shall not commence until the 
details are approved and works to which this condition relates have been 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. The walls and fencing 
shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 

  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and safe development in accordance with 
the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies D4 and D8 of 
the London Plan 2021, policy CS14 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 
2011 and policies DM D1 and D2 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

 

6 No development shall take place until details of the proposed finished floor 
levels of the development, together with existing and proposed site levels, 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and no development shall be carried out except in strict 
accordance with the approved levels and details. 

 

  
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and to comply with 
the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policy D4 and D8 of the 
London Plan 2021, policy CS14 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 2011 
and policies DM D2 and D3 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

 

7 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the refuse 
and recycling storage facilities shown on the approved plans have been 
fully implemented and made available for use. These facilities shall 
thereafter be retained for use at all times. 

 

  
Reason:  To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of 
refuse and recycling material and to comply with the following Development 
Plan policies for Merton: policies T4 and T7 of the London Plan 2021, 
policy CS17 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 2011 and policy DM D2 of 
Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

 

8 Any external lighting shall be positioned and angled to prevent any light 
spillage or glare beyond the site boundary. 

 

  
 

 

Page 21



Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the area and the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and ensure compliance with the following 
Development Plan policies for Merton: policies DM D2 and DM EP4 of 
Merton's Sites and Polices Plan 2014. 
 

9 No demolition or construction work or ancillary activities such as deliveries 
shall take place before 8am or after 6pm Mondays - Fridays inclusive, 
before 8am or after 1pm on Saturdays or at any time on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays. 

 

  
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the area and the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and ensure compliance with the following 
Development Plan policies for Merton: policies D14 and T7 of the London 
Plan 2021 and policy DM EP2 of Merton's Sites and Polices Plan 2014. 
 

 

10 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the development has achieved CO2 
reductions in line with those set out in the approved Energy & Sustainability 
Statement (dated 14th July 2022) and internal water consumption rates of 
no greater than 105 litres per person per day. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainability. To comply with Policy CS15 of the 
Merton Core Strategy 2011. 
 

 

11 No development shall occur until a preliminary risk-assessment is 
submitted to the approval of the LPA. Then an investigation conducted to 
consider the potential for contaminated-land and shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites 
and Policies Plan 2014.  
 

 

12 No development shall occur until a remediation method statement, 
described to make the site suitable for, intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to sensitive receptors, and shall be submitted to and 
approved 2 in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites 
and Policies Plan 2014.  
 

 

13 Prior to first occupation, the remediation shall be completed and a 
verification report, produced on completion of the remediation, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
 
 

 

Page 22



Reason: To protect the health of future users of the site in accordance with 
Policy SI 10 of the London Plan 2021 and Policy DM EP4 of Merton's Sites 
and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

14 Prior to the commencement of the development and due to the potential 
impact of the surrounding locality on the residential development, a scheme 
for protecting residents from noise shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
commencing. The scheme shall be based on Good Acoustic Design based 
upon ProPG: Planning and Noise - Professional Practice Guide, Publ: 
(ANC, IOA, CIEH) May 2017 (or any revision) as a minimum. The scheme 
is to include acoustic data for the glazing system and ventilation systems.  
 
The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details. A post verification report associated in relation to the mitigation 
implemented and internal noise levels shall be submitted to the LPA for 
approval.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity. To comply with London Plan 2021  
Policy D14 and Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 Policy DM EP2.  
 

 

15 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local Environmental 
Health planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period.  
 
The Statement shall provide for:  
hours of operation  
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
loading and unloading of plant and materials  
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative  
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
wheel washing facilities 
measures to control the emission of noise and vibration during 
construction.  
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction/demolition  
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works 
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway safety. To comply with 
London Plan 2021 Policy T7 and Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 
Policy DM D2.  
 

 

16 Prior to the commencement a detailed scheme for the provision of surface 
and foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The drainage scheme will dispose of surface 
water by means of a sustainable drainage system (SuDS)), in accordance 

 

Page 23



with drainage hierarchy contained within the London Plan Policy (SI 13 and 
SPG) and the advice contained within the National SuDS Standards.   
 
Reason: To reduce the risk of surface and foul water flooding to the 
proposed development and future users and ensure surface water and foul 
flood risk does not increase offsite in accordance with Merton's Core 
Strategy 2011 Policy CS16, Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 Policy 
DMF2 and the London Plan 2021 Policy SI 13. 
 

17 The finished floor levels of the development shall be set no lower than 
12.35mAODN.  
 
Reason: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding to the proposed 
development and future users, in accordance with Merton's Core Strategy 
2011 Policy CS16, Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014 Policy DMF2 and 
the London Plan 2021 Policy SI 13. 
 

 

18 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a 
Construction Logistics Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved measures shall be 
implemented prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
permitted and shall be so maintained for the duration of the use, unless the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority is first obtained to any 
variation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. To comply with London Plan 
2021 Policy T7.  
 

 

19 No development shall take place until full details of a landscaping and 
planting scheme (including tree planting)has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved before the commencement of the use or the 
occupation of any building hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include on a plan, 
full details of the size, species, spacing, quantities and location of proposed 
plants, together with any hard surfacing, means of enclosure, and 
indications of all existing trees, hedges and any other features to be 
retained, and measures for their protection during the course of 
development. 

 

  
Reason:  To enhance the appearance of the development in the interest of 
the amenities of the area, to ensure the provision sustainable drainage 
surfaces and to comply with the following Development Plan policies for 
Merton: policies G7 and D8 of the London Plan 2021, policies CS13 and 
CS16 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 2011 and policies DM D2, DM F2 
and DM O2 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 
 

 

20 No development shall commence until details of secure cycle parking 
facilities for the occupants of, and visitors to, the development have been 

 

Page 24



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved facilities shall be fully implemented and made available for use 
prior to the first occupation of the development and thereafter retained for 
use at all times. 

  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory facilities for cycle parking are provided and 
to comply with the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policy 
T5 of the London Plan 2021, policy CS18 of Merton's Core Planning 
Strategy 2011 and policy DM T1 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 
 

 

21 INFORMATIVE 
No surface water runoff should discharge onto the public highway including 
the public footway or highway. When it is proposed to connect to a public 
sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at the final 
manhole nearest the boundary.   Where the developer proposes to 
discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer 
Services will be required (contact no. 0845 850 2777). 
 

 

22 INFORMATIVE 
No waste material, including concrete, mortar, grout, plaster, fats, oils and 
chemicals shall be washed down on the highway or disposed of into the 
highway drainage system. 
 

 

23 INFORMATIVE 
You are advised to contact the Council's Highways team on 020 8545 3700 
before undertaking any works within the Public Highway to obtain the 
necessary approvals and/or licences. Please be advised that there is a 
further charge for this work. If your application falls within a Controlled 
Parking Zone this has further costs involved and can delay the application 
by 6 to 12 months. 
 

 

24 INFORMATIVE 
Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer, 
whether they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable 
highway, as defined under Section 87 of the New Roads and Street Works 
Act 1991, or on or affecting the public highway, shall be co-ordinated under 
the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the 
Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order to secure 
the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the 
highway network in Merton. Any such works or events commissioned by 
the developer and particularly those involving the connection of any utility 
to the site, shall be co-ordinated by them in liaison with the London 
Borough of Merton, Network Coordinator, (telephone 020 8545 3976). This 
must take place at least one month in advance of the works and particularly 
to ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are co-
ordinated to take place wherever possible at the same time. 
 

 

25 INFORMATIVE 
The applicant is advised to check the requirements of the Party Wall Act 
1996 relating to work on an existing wall shared with another property, 

 

Page 25



building on the boundary with a neighbouring property, or excavating near 
a neighbouring building. Further information is available at the following 
link:  
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/buildingregulations/buildingpolicyandlegisl
ation/current legislation/partywallact 
 

26 INFORMATIVE 
This planning permission contains certain conditions precedent that state 
'before development commences'  
or 'prior to commencement of any development' (or similar). As a result 
these must be discharged prior to ANY development activity taking place 
on site. Commencement of development without having complied with 
these conditions will make any development unauthorised and possibly 
subject to enforcement action such as a Stop Notice. 
 

 

 

Page 26



NORTHGATE SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

 

2

2

116B

3

2a

21

H
am

il ton M
ew

s

9

11

16

1
116D

SHELTON ROAD

2

15.8m

15.7m

33

32

23

22

8

1

10

18

12
9

12
7

Hamilton

Mews

17

121

1 to 19

Shelter

12

112

84

B
ar

ra
ck

s

15.4m
KINGSTON ROAD

1

Pelham

96

98

110

Primary

LB

94

S
al

va
tio

n 
A

rm
y

Fire

Tower

Fire Station

a

111
115

116

6

2

96

1

PALMERSTON GROVE

School

Vertex

Apartments

116

D
olphin C

ourt

15.3m

1 to  30

118

1 to 4

120a

120

118E

11

15.4m

118A

122

6

126

12
5

123

1

4

125

3

5

SALT YARD

10
1

139

86

11
5

1 02

7

7

12

15
1

118

6

14
1

12

1

133

1

88

99

GRANVILLE ROAD

6

141

HARCOURT ROAD

11
7

135

104

12
2

127

74

7

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 29



P
age 30



P
age 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



0 5m4321

SCALE BAR [1:100@ A3] PALMERSTON ROAD
KI

NG
ST

O
N 

RO
AD

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
162.0m²

SHARED
ACCESS

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED NOT SURVEYED

SHARED
ACCESS

FLAT 2
64.9m²

FD60
FIRE DOOR

1100L
RECYCLE

BIN

1100L
REFUSE

BIN

FOOD
WASTE

BIN

BEDROOM

12.00m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

08.90m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

10.00m²
 +2.500m

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
27.90m²

STORAGE
1.3m²

BEDROOM

09.00m²
 +2.500m

ENSUITE

STORAGE
2m²

STORAGE
1.5m²

BEDROOM

12.00m²
 +2.500m

FLAT 1
87.4m²

BOUNDARY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

4

3

STORAGE
0.7m²

BATH
ROOM

BATHROOM
 +2.500m

GARDEN
AREA
17.4m²

A

A

B

B

1.5m DIAMETER TURNING CIRCLE

FLAT 1
87.4m²

FLAT 2
64.9m²

SLIDING DOORSLIDING DOOR

UP

UP

UP

UP

WARDROBE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

BIKE
STORE

6
3

5

1

2

4

53

814 814814

14

8

18

9

9

9

9 9 9 9

9 9

9 9

19

19

19 19

21

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

22

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A20 of 3320

1:100@A3

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

P
age 43



PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
160.0m²

0 5m4321

SCALE BAR [1:100@ A3] PALMERSTON ROAD
KI

NG
ST

O
N 

RO
AD

SHARED
ACCESS

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED NOT SURVEYED

SHARED
ACCESS

FLAT 4
65.6m²

TERRACE
07.30m²

TERRACE
06.00m²

TERRACE
09.00m²

FLAT 3
42.4m²

BOUNDARY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

4

3

BEDROOM

10.00m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

09.20m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

13.00m²
 +2.500m

STORAGE
2m²

ENSUITE

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
33.40m²

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
24.10m²

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
23.00m²

BATHROOM
 +2.500m

SHOWER
ROOM

STORAGE
1.0m²

FD60
FIRE DOOR

FD60
FIRE DOOR

A

A

B

B

FLAT 1
87.4m²

FLAT 4
65.6m²

FLAT 3
42.4m²

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

SLIDING DOOR

UPUP

UP

WARDROBE

WARDROBE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

OBSCURED GLAZED OBSCURED GLAZED OBSCURED GLAZED

814
18

9 9 9 9

9

999999

9

9

10

10

10

9 9 9

19

19

19 19

11

11

11

21

151515

7

UP
UP

22

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A21 of 3321

1:100@A3

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

P
age 44



PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
138.8m²

0 5m4321

SCALE BAR [1:100@ A3] PALMERSTON ROAD
KI

NG
ST

O
N 

RO
AD

SHARED
ACCESS

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED

NOT SURVEYED NOT SURVEYED

SHARED
ACCESS FLAT 6

62.0m²

TERRACE
07.20m²

FLAT 5
63.3m²

BOUNDARY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

4

3

TERRACE
09.00m²

BEDROOM

11.50m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

08.70m²
 +2.500m

STORAGE
1.5m²

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
27.00m²

BEDROOM

11.80m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

08.20m²
 +2.500m

STORAGE
1.0m²

BATH
ROOM

BATH
ROOM

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
30.30m²

FD60
FIRE DOOR

FD60
FIRE DOOR

A

A

B

B

FLAT 6
62.0m²

FLAT 5
63.3m²

UPUP

UP

STORAGE
1.0m²

STORAGE
0.5m²

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

W
AR

D
R

O
BE

WARDROBE

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

OBSCURED GLAZED OBSCURED GLAZED OBSCURED GLAZED

15

814
18

9 9 9

9

9

9

9

9

99

999

9

9

9

10

10

99

19

19

11

11

21

15 15

7

22

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A22 of 3322

1:100@A3

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN

P
age 45



0 5m4321

SCALE BAR [1:100@ A3] PALMERSTON ROAD
KI

NG
ST

O
N 

RO
AD

SHARED
ACCESS

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
71.80m²

BOUNDARY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

4

3

FLAT 7
62.7m²

STORAGE
0.8m²

STORAGE
1.2m²BEDROOM

12.40m²
 +2.500m

BEDROOM

08.00m²
 +2.500m

TERRACE
07.00m²

FD60
FIRE DOOR

BATHROOM
 +2.500m

KITCHEN
DINING

LOUNGE
 +2.500m
28.30m²

A

A

B

B

FLAT 7
62.7m²

UP
UP

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

WARDROBE

WARDROBE

814
18

10

9 9 9 9 9

9

9

9

9

10

11

11

21

22

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A23 of 3323

1:100@A3

PROPOSED THIRD FLOOR PLAN

P
age 46



PROPOSED ROOF PLAN

0 5m4321

SCALE BAR [1:100@ A3] PALMERSTON ROAD
KI

NG
ST

O
N 

RO
AD

SHARED
ACCESS

BOUNDARY LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

4

3

A

A

B

B

AOV
1.5m²

10

10

16

1616161616

161616

1717

12
20

11

11

21

22

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A24 of 3324

1:100@A3

PROPOSED ROOF PLAN

P
age 47



0 5m4321

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

DASHED LINE SHOWS OUTLINE
OF APPROVED EXTENSION DUE
TO BE BUILT IMMINENTLY

20

20

20

18

13

20

14

19

0 5m4321

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

DASHED LINE SHOWS OUTLINE
OF APPROVED EXTENSION DUE
TO BE BUILT IMMINENTLY

20

20

20

18

13

20

14

19

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A25 of 3325

1:100@A3

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION

P
age 48



PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

0 5m4321

VERTEX APARTMENTS
PALMERSTON ROAD

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

PALMERSTON ROAD

20

21

18

14

13

13

10

10

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

0 5m4321

VERTEX APARTMENTS
PALMERSTON ROAD

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

PALMERSTON ROAD

20

21

18

14

13

13

10

10

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A26 of 3326

1:100@A3

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

P
age 49



BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

0 5m4321

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 3

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

6

53

20

20

20

20 20

20

18

14

13

13

10

10

10

10

10

19

19

F.F.L.
12.35+

F.F.L.
15.20+

F.F.L.
18.05+

F.F.L.
20.90+

A.O.D
11.90+

F.F.L.
12.35+A.O.D

12.05+

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A27 of 3327

1:100@A3

PROPOSED ELEVATION 3

P
age 50



26-BJ-45 P
05

01

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

0 5m4321

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 4

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y 

LI
N

E

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

OBSCURED
GLAZED
WINDOW

20

20 20 20

13

13

10

10

19

22

1. PERMEABLE PAVING
2. REFUSE STORAGE
3. INDIVIDUAL LETTER BOXES
4. SECURE CYCLE STORAGE
5. INTERCOM
6. SECURITY LIGHTING
7. OBSCURED GLAZED
8. SOFT LANDSCAPING
9. DOUBLE GLAZED SOUND
INSULATED WINDOWS
10. 1.1m OBSCURED GLASS
BALUSTRADE
11. RESIN DECKING
12. 1.5m² AOV
13. LONDON STOCK YELLOW
BRICK

14. 0.7m BRICK WALL/ PLANTER
WITH 0.6m HEDGE
15. FIXED & OBSCURED GLAZED
TO 1.7m HIGH FROM INTERNAL
FLOOR LEVEL WITH TOP PANE
FOR VENTILATION
16. SOLAR PANELS
17. ROOF LIGHTS
18. NEW MATURE TREE AT
COUNCIL SPECIFICATION.
19. RECESSED DARK GREY
ALUMINIUM DOWN PIPE
20. DARK GREY ZINC
21. DARK GREY ZINC GATE
22. 1.6m HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
0.4m SLATTED TIMBER TRELLIS

dwn

drawing number

drawing title

date

project

rev

client

scale

sheet no.

JULY 2022 O.M

 

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION

115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT

 
 
 

Notes:
1- This drawing is not for construction;
2- All Dimension are in millimeters;
3- This drawing has been drawn to scale for
the purposes of obtaining local authority
approval. Dimensions are not to be scaled
directly from drawings;
4- All dimensions are to be checked on site
and the Structural Engineer is to be inform
of any discrepancies before construction
commences;
5- All structural elements to be agreed with
local authority Building Control prior to
commencement of works.
6- All references to drawings refer to current
revision of that drawing;
7- The Copyright of this drawing belongs to
Revive Renovations & Licensing.
8- Attention is drawn to the provisions of the
party wall act 1996. Legal boundaries should
be determined by others.

FOR PLANNING ONLY

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 2 STOREY PROPERTY AND
ERECTION OF 3/4 STOREY PROPERTY. NEW
PROPERTY TO CONSIST OF 7 SELF-CONTAINED FLATS
(1 X 3 BED, 5 X 2 BED, 1 X 1 BED/1 PERSON) ALL WITH
PRIVATE OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND
COVERED/SECURED CYCLE AND REFUSE STORAGE.

A28 of 3328

1:100@A3

PROPOSED ELEVATION 4

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



P
age 56



P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
16 March 2023 
 
CASE OFFICER REPORT         
             
APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID 
22/P2855 20/09/2022 
 
Address/Site: 310-356 Grand Drive, Raynes Park, SW20 9NQ 
 
Ward: Lower Morden  
 
Proposal: Application for prior approval in respect of the proposed 

erection of a single storey roof extension to provide 6 no. 
flats and associated works. 
 

Drawing Nos: HA22-182-P001, HA22-182-P006A, HA22-182-P007, 
HA22-182-P008, HA22-182-P009A 

 
Contact Officer: Wendy Wong Chang 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PRIOR APPROVAL subject to conditions and S106 legal agreement 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 
CHECKLIST INFORMATION 

Is a screening opinion required No 
Is an Environmental Statement required No 
Press notice No 
Site notice No 
Design Review Panel consulted No 
Number of neighbours consulted 64 
External consultations 0 
Internal consultations 2 
Controlled Parking Zone No   

 

 
1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  This application is being brought to the Planning Applications Committee for 

determination due to the number of objections received. 
 
2.  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



2.1  The application site is a 4 storey building located on the eastern side of Grand 
Drive within a Neighbourhood Parade Area.  It comprises commercial units on 
ground floor level and residential flats on the upper floors.  

 
2.2  The surrounding area is in mixed use.  To the south is a similar three storey 

mixed use development.  To the west, opposite Grand Drive is a three storey 
residential development and an access to Morden Cemetery/Recreation 
Ground which is designated as an area of Open Space, Sites of Importance 
for Nature Conservation and Metropolitan Open Land.   

 
2.4 The site is not located within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) and has a 

public transport access level (PTAL) of 2 (0 being poor and 6 being excellent). 
 
3.  CURRENT PROPOSAL 
 
3.1  This is an application to determine whether prior approval is required in 

respect of the proposed erection of an additional storey to the existing four 
storey mixed use block to create 6 x new self-contained flats (3 x 2B3P and 
3x 1B2P).  

 
3.2 This is an application submitted under Class AA of Part 20 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended) for new dwellinghouses on detached buildings in commercial or 
mixed use.     

 
3.3 Therefore, the only issues that can form material considerations are as  
 follows: 
 

(a) transport and highways impacts of the development; 
 
(b) air traffic and defence asset impacts of the development; 
 
(c) contamination risks in relation to the building; 
 
(d) flooding risks in relation to the building; 
 
(e) the external appearance of the building; 
 
(f) the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new 
dwellinghouses; 
 
(g) impact on the amenity of the existing building and neighbouring premises 
including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; 
 
(h) impacts of noise from any commercial premises on the intended occupiers 
of the new dwellinghouses; 
 
(i) impacts of the introduction of, or an increase in, a residential use of 
premises in the area on the carrying on of any trade, business or other use of 
land in the area; 

Page 62



 
(j) whether, because of the siting of the building, the development will impact 
on a protected view identified in the Directions Relating to Protected Vistas 
dated 15th March 2012. 
 
(k) where the existing building is 18 metres or more in height, the fire safety of 
the external wall construction of the existing building; and 
 
(l) where the development meets the fire risk condition (see paragraph C(3) of 
this Part), the fire safety impacts on the intended occupants of the building. 
 

3.4 The proposal involves the addition of one floor of accommodation.  The 
additional floor would be finished in materials to match existing.  All windows 
would align with the windows on the floor below and have the same 
appearance as the existing windows. 

 
4.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 None of relevance to the application site however below sets out the planning 

history of the adjacent site at 358-372 Grand Drive. 
 
4.2 22/P0440 - Demolition of the existing building and redevelopment of the site 

to provide a four storey building with a full basement 43 space car park, 3 
retail units & supermarket to the ground floor and 33 x apartments to first, 
second and third floors – Pending Decision 

 
5.  CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 Public consultation was undertaken by post sent to neighbouring properties. 
 
5.2  10 letters were received from 9 properties objecting to the proposal for the 

following reasons as summarised: 
 
 

Comments Officer Comments 

Transport  

Put pressure on available parking 
provision 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of this report.  The applicant 
has agreed to enter into a legal 
agreement to restrict future occupiers of 
the units from applying for residents 
parking permits in the event that a CPZ 
comes into force in the future 

Refuse collection.  Existing 
refuse chutes frequently 
becomes blocked and the 
management company have not 
been quick to unblock it 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of this report.  However, a 
condition requiring the submission of 
refuse management plan has been 
recommended to ensure the 
development provides satisfactory No recycling facilities  

Page 63



If the proposed planning 
application is granted, we 
respectfully request that a 
condition be included to 
accommodate the refuse 
provision for the existing and 
additional units. 

refuse disposal/collection 
arrangements. 

Incorrect information provided by 
the applicant as there is currently 
no dedicated storage space for 
dry recycling or food waste. 

Damage to existing property 
during construction works 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of this report.  However, a 
condition requiring the submission of 
Construction Logistic and Management 
Plan has been recommended to ensure 
the development can be constructed 
with minimal disturbance to nearby 
occupants. 

Noise, dust and debris during 
construction works causing 
health hazards 

I'd also like to know where 
building materials will be stored? 
Where will lorries be stored? If 
lorries are stored round the back 
near the garages, how will 
access to garages and parking 
spaces be guaranteed? If on the 
front, will this cause further 
limited parking for the area? How 
are the construction workers 
getting to work? Will they be 
parking in the area and causing 
increased strain on parking as 
well as further congestion? 

No information on construction 
related activities 

  

Design  

The finished roof level would be 
significantly higher than the 
adjacent and surrounding 
buildings – which is totally out of 
character. 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of the Report. 

No attempt by the applicant to 
enhance the streetscape or 
quality of the environment by 
using this opportunity to provide 
something visually appealing. 

Not subordinate 

Increases bulk and mass 

Application should be refused by 
reason of its excessive increase 
in height, bulk and massing, 
overbearing and visually intrusive 

Page 64



 

Neighbour Amenity  

Increases overlooking Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of the Report. Loss of privacy 

Increase in noise 

Overshadowing 

Impact on light  

Access to existing flats within the 
site 

This is not a material planning 
consideration 

Year-long building proposal to be 
excessive and also breaches the 
covenant in the leasehold 
agreement. 

This is not a material planning 
consideration 

Other  

Covering Statement is not 
available to view 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Both the landlord and managing 
agents have not been able to 
provide adequate refurbishment 
of our properties nor kept the 
outside bin area to an adequate 
Health and Safety standard 
despite numerous complaints 
from the people who live here 

Main concern is if they can't or 
won't actually deal satisfactorily 
with our issues now, how on 
earth will they cope with an 
additional set of flats to manage 

No additional fire escape.  
Increase risks evacuating the 
building in case of fire 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Temporary loss of utilities during 
construction 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of the Report. 

Additional development to the 
property should introduce a 
positive refreshment of the 
existing building’s front elevation 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

No details of how works to the 
existing roof plant will take place 
with residents in situ and how 
water supplies can continue to 
the flats whilst the relocation of 
the plant room is in process.  

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

There is asbestos present in the 
building.  Need details how this 
will be handled with residents in 
the building 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Page 65



There is an existing leak in the 
building and the management 
company/freeholders have yet to 
find the source of the leak. 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

The freeholder has not fulfilled 
their covenants on the lease and 
there is no discussion around the 
refurbishment of the communal 
staircases or exterior rendering 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

We've had no contact or notice 
from the freeholders at all 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Massive impact on local trade 
and traffic as the additional floor 
is built which will be a detriment 
to local traders and locals trying 
to move around the area 

Further discussed and assessed in 
Section 6 of the Report. 

The Applicant has not outlined 
how the building will be secured if 
planning permission is granted, 
the building would have 
scaffolding erected for a 
considerable period and this 
would mean we are open to 
several elements including 
burglary. 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

No information on Health and 
Safety 

 

The building has no emergency 
lighting, no smoke/fire detectors, 
and only one exit in and out of 
the building. During our time as 
leaseholders no fire risk 
assessments have been carried 
out. 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval  

The utilities infrastructure is of a 
poor quality and has not been 
updated since the building was 
built in 1960, this includes gas, 
electrical and water. 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Poor management This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

Applicant has not met the 
requirements in the Party Wall 
Act 1996 

This is not a material planning 
consideration under this prior approval 

 
5.2  Planning officer’s comments – Matters raised in the objections have been 

covered within the delegated report. In terms of dust, noise and disturbance 
created during the building work, these matters would be covered and 
monitored by the Council’s Environmental Health team. Adherence to a 
Working Method Statement and Construction Logistics Plan have been 

Page 66



conditioned.  The applicant would need to ensure that they have all necessary 
permits and approvals for the works which sit outside planning. 

 
5.3  LBM Transport Planner: 
 

No comments received 
 
5.4 LBM Waste Officer 
 

Comments on the submitted refuse management plan pending at the time of 
writing this report. 

 
5.5  Thames Water 
 

Thames Water has been consulted and comments yet to be received. 
 
5.6  Highways (cycling) 
 

If they really cannot meet the London Plan cycle parking requirements on site, 

then they should provide a contribution for cycle parking on-street. 

We already have a lot of Sheffield cycle stands in this area intended for short 
term uses such as shopping. But these are not appropriate for residential use 
due to inadequate security and lack of weather protection. So for a residential 
development they should provide cycle hangars. These could probably be 
accommodated on the wide footway here or alternatively they could go in a 
parking space 
 
The units each accommodate 6 bikes so, if the London Plan requires 10 

spaces, then they should fund 2 hangars. The cost with installation will be 

approx. £5k per hangar including a contribution towards the residents annual 

membership fee for an initial period of 2 years.  

5.7  Highways  
 

  No comments received at the time of writing this report. 
 
5.8  Transport Planning 
 
 No comments received at the time of writing this report. 
 
5.9 Councils Flood Officer  
 
 No comments received at the time of writing this report. 
 
5.10 Councils Environmental Health Officer  
 
 No comments received at the time of writing this report. 
 
6.  POLICY CONTEXT 

Page 67



 
6.1 The application as submitted is for prior approval and will be assessed against 

Schedule 2, Part 20 ‘Construction of New Dwellinghouses’, Class AA ‘New 
dwellinghouses on detached buildings in commercial or mixed-use’ of the 
Town and Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended). These rights have not been removed or restricted by any 
previous planning conditions.  

 
6.2 Officer note: Article C of Part 20 defines ‘Detached’ as a building that does not 

share a party wall with a neighbouring building.  In this instance, Officer has 
reviewed planning history of the adjoining building, 300 Grand Drive (Co-op 
building) and as illustrated on historic plans submitted under application 
MER215/79, the application building and the adjoining Co-op building do not 
share a party wall.  The simplistic way to define a party wall is defined as two 
buildings that share only one wall (normally a flank wall). In this instance, the 
host building has its own flank wall, and the Co-op has its own flank wall. 
Despite these walls adjoining, they are separate from each other, and for the 
purpose of assessment under Part 20 this is considered as detached (as they 
don’t share a party wall). This view only relates to consideration under Part 20 
and does not alter how officers would normally define a detached building. In 
any event, even if the building were to be considered as a terrace, then under 
Part 20, Class AB (new dwellinghouses on terrace buildings in commercial or 
mixed use) the prior approval criteria is exactly the same as that under Class 
AA as set out below. 

 
6.3 Class AA – The proposed erection of an additional storey at 310-356 Grand 

Drive is considered to be permitted development under Class AA. It has been 
assessed against the following criteria accordingly: 

 

Permitted development Officer comments 

AA. (1) Development consisting of works for the 
construction of up to two additional storeys of 
new dwellinghouses immediately above the 
topmost storey on a detached building to which 
subparagraph (2) applies, together with any or 
all— 
 

 

(a) engineering operations reasonably 
necessary to construct the additional storeys 
and new dwellinghouses;  
 

Complies 

(b) works for the replacement of existing plant or 
installation of additional plant on the roof of the 
extended building reasonably necessary to 
service the new dwellinghouses;  
 

Complies 

(c) works for the construction of appropriate and 
safe access to and egress from the new 
dwellinghouses and existing premises in the 
building, including means of escape from fire, 

Complies 

Page 68



via additional external doors or external 
staircases;  
 

(d) works for the construction of storage, waste 
or other ancillary facilities reasonably necessary 
to support the new dwellinghouses. 
 

Complies 

  

AA (2) This sub-paragraph applies to a building 
which is— 
 

 

(a) used for any purpose within Class A1 
(shops), Class A2 (financial and professional 
services), Class A3 (restaurants and cafes) or 
Class B1(a) (offices) of the Schedule to the 
1987 Order, or as a betting office, pay day loan 
shop or launderette; 
 

N/A.  AA(2)(b) applies as 
the building is in a mixed 
use with commercial 
uses on the ground floor 
and residential use on 
the upper floors. 

(b) in a mixed use combining— Complies 

(i) two or more uses within paragraph (a); or (ii) 
a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of 
the Schedule to the 1987 Order, together with 
one or more uses within paragraph (a). 

Complies 

AA.(3) In relation to Class AA, “the 1987 Order” 
means the Use Classes Order as in force on 5th 
March 2018. 

Complies 

 
      

Development not permitted Officer comments 

AA.1. Development is not permitted by Class AA 
if— 

 

(za) the permission to use the building as a 
dwellinghouse has been granted only by virtue of 
Class MA of Part 3 of this Schedule; 

Complies  

(a) above ground level, the building is less than 
three storeys in height; 

Complies.  The building is 
4 storeys in height. 

(b) the building was constructed before 1st July 
1948 or after 5th March 2018; 

Complies.  It has been 
submitted that the 
building was originally 
constructed circa 1963.  

(c) on 5th March 2018 the building was in a use 
other than— 
(i) a use or mixed use within paragraph AA(2)(a) 
or (b); or 
(ii) a use falling within Class C3 of the Schedule 
to the Use Classes Order; 

Complies.  Google 
streetview of the site 
dating between 2008 to 
present shows the 
building to have been in 
continued  mixed use with 
commercial uses on the 
ground floor and 
residential uses above. 

Page 69



(d) the additional storeys are constructed other 
than on the principal part of the building; 

Complies.  The additional 
storey is constructed 
above the flat roof of the 
principal part of the 
building. 

(e) the floor to ceiling height of any additional 
storey, measured internally, would exceed the 
lower of— 
(i) 3 metres; or 
(ii) the floor to ceiling height, measured internally, 
of any storey of the principal part of the existing 
building; 

Complies.  The floor to 
ceiling height of the new 
units measures 2.4m 
which is the same as the 
existing units  

(f) the new dwellinghouses are not flats; Complies.  The new units 
are flats. 

(g) the height of the highest part of the roof of the 
extended building would exceed the height of the 
highest part of the roof of the existing building by 
more than 7 metres (not including plant, in 
each case); 

Complies.  See 
screenshot below.  The 
height of the highest part 
of the extended building 
would extend  approx. 
2.8m therefore <7m. 

 
(h) the height of the highest part of the roof of the 
extended building (not including plant) would be 
greater than 30 metres; 

Complies.  See above 
screenshot.  The 
proposed elevation 
shows the height of the 
extended building 
(excluding plant) to be 
approx. 14.1m.  (Total 
height is approx. 15m 
including plant.) 

(i) development under Class AA(1)(a) would 
include the provision of visible support structures 
on or attached to the exterior of the building upon 
completion of the development; 

Complies.  None 
proposed. 

(j) development under Class AA(1)(a) would 
consist of engineering operations other than 
works within the existing curtilage of the building 
to— 
(i) strengthen existing walls; 

Complies.  All associated 
works are sited within the 
curtilage of the building. 

Page 70



(ii) strengthen existing foundations; or 
(iii) install or replace water, drainage, electricity, 
gas or other services; 

(k) in the case of Class AA(1)(b) development 
there is no existing plant on the building; 

Complies.  There is plant 
at roof level. 

(l) in the case of Class AA(1)(b) development the 
height of any replaced or additional plant as 
measured from the lowest surface of the new roof 
on the principal part of the extended building 
would exceed the height of any existing plant as 
measured from the lowest surface of the existing 
roof on the principal part of the existing building; 

Complies.  The height of 
the replacement plant is 
the same height as 
existing. 

(m) development under Class AA(1)(c) would 
extend beyond the curtilage of the existing 
building; 

Complies.  The proposed 
additional storey is sited 
within the curtilage of the 
existing building.   

(n) development under Class AA(1)(d) would— 
(i) extend beyond the curtilage of the existing 
building; 
(ii) be situated on land forward of a wall forming 
the principal elevation of the existing building; or 
(iii) be situated on land forward of a wall fronting 
a highway and forming a side elevation of the 
existing building; or 

Complies.  The proposed 
additional storey is sited 
within the curtilage of the 
existing building.   

(o) the land or site on which the building is 
located, is or forms part of— 
(i) article 2(3) land; 
(ii) a site of special scientific interest; 
(iii) a listed building or land within its curtilage; 
(iv) a scheduled monument or land within its 
curtilage; 
(v) a safety hazard area; 
(vi) a military explosives storage area; or 
(vii) land within 3 kilometres of the perimeter of 
an aerodrome. 

Complies.  The 
application site do not 
form part of areas listed 
under (i)-(vii). 

 

Conditions Officer comments 

AA.2.—(1)Where any development under Class 
AA is proposed, development is permitted subject 
to the 
condition that before beginning the development, 
the developer must apply to the local planning 
authority for prior approval of the authority as to— 

 

(a) transport and highways impacts of the 
development; 

Complies.  This is 
discussed in further detail 
in the report below. 

(b) air traffic and defence asset impacts of the 
development; 

Complies. The site is not 
within 3 km of any 
identified aerodrome. The 
application is not 

Page 71



considered to impact on 
air traffic and defence 
assets. 

(c) contamination risks in relation to the building; Complies. There are no 
land contamination 
designations, no 
excavation is proposed 
and the new flats would 
be on upper floors. 

(d) flooding risks in relation to the building; Complies.  The site is not 
situated in an area at high 
risk of flooding.  Given 
siting at roof level, the 
development will not 
impact on the risk of 
flooding in the locality. 

(e) the external appearance of the building, 
including— 
(i) the design and architectural features of— 
(aa) the principal elevation; and 
(bb) any side elevation that fronts a highway; and 
(ii) the impact of any works under sub-paragraph 
(1)(c) or (d) of Class AA; 

Complies.  This is 
discussed in further detail 
in the report below. 

f) the provision of adequate natural light in all 
habitable rooms of the new dwellinghouses; 

Complies. All new 
habitable rooms in the 
new dwellings would be 
served by adequately 
sized and sited windows.   

(g) impact on the amenity of the existing building 
and neighbouring premises including 
overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; 

Complies. The amenities 
of occupiers of the 
existing building are not 
considered to be 
unacceptably 
compromised by the 
development. This is 
discussed in further detail 
in the report below. 

(h) impacts of noise from any commercial 
premises on the intended occupiers of the new 
dwellinghouses; 

Complies.  The 
commercial premises are 
sited at ground floor and 
the proposed new units 
are sited on the 5th floor.  
No impact identified. 

(i) impacts of the introduction of, or an increase 
in, a residential use of premises in the area on the 
carrying on of any trade, business or other use of 
land in the area; 

Complies.  Impact is 
considered beneficial 
with potential increase in 
footfall and thus the 
viability and vitality of the 
existing commercial 
units. 

Page 72



j) whether, because of the siting of the building, 
the development will impact on a protected view 
identified in the Directions Relating to Protected 
Vistas dated 15th March 2012 issued by the 
Secretary of State 

Complies. There are no 
protected views to 
consider. 

(k) where the existing building is 18 metres or 
more in height, the fire safety of the external wall 
construction of the existing building; and 

Complies.  Existing 
building does not exceed 
18m in height. 

(l) where the development meets the fire risk 
condition (see paragraph C(3) of this Part), the 
fire safety impacts on the intended occupants of 
the building, 

Complies. The 
development does not 
meet the fire risk 
condition for reasons set 
out under (k). 

 
 Condition 1(a) – Transport and Highways 
 
6.4   London Plan Policy T1 (Strategic approach to transport) states 

that the delivery of the Mayor’s strategic target of 80 per cent of all trips in 
London to be made by foot, cycle or public transport by 2041. All development 
should make the most effective use of land, reflecting its connectivity and 
accessibility by existing and future public transport, walking and cycling 
routes, and ensure that any impacts on London’s transport networks and 
supporting infrastructure are mitigated. 

6.5 Merton SPP Policy DM T2 seeks to ensure that development is sustainable 
and has minimal impact on the existing transport infrastructure and local 
environment. Policy DM T3 seeks to ensure that the level of residential and 
non-residential parking and servicing provided is suitable for its location and 
managed to minimise its impact on local amenity and the road network.   

6.6   Core Strategy Policy CS20 and SPP Policy DM T5 requires that 
development would not adversely affect pedestrian or cycle movements, 
safety, the convenience of local residents, street parking or traffic 
management, that they minimise any impacts on the safe movement of 
people or goods, are appropriately located and connected to the road 
hierarchy; respect the streets character and environment.    

Car Parking 

6.7 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level of 2 which is considered to 
be poor. The proposal does not fall within a Controlled Parking Zone and no 
additional vehicular parking is proposed.  

 
6.8 The London plan expresses parking standards as a maximum. Therefore, the 

provision of a car free development is not objectionable.  The comments of 
neighbouring occupiers, in regards to parking pressure, have been carefully 
considered. The results of the parking survey undertaken by i-Transport have 
demonstrated that, in the worst case scenario, the development may result in 
demand to park a further 5- 6 cars on street.  The overnight parking surveys 
identified 45 or more vacant parking spaces (out of 85 unrestricted parking 
spaces) in the surrounding streets.  Therefore with the development in situ, 
approx. 39 parking spaces will remain vacant, which is equivalent to a total 

Page 73



parking stress level increasing from 46% to 54%.  It can therefore it can be 
concluded the development will not materially impact on existing parking 
stress in the locality and therefore will continue to safeguard highway and 
pedestrian safety.  

 
6.9 The site is not within a CPZ however to ensure the scheme does not increase 

parking pressure in the locality in perpetuity, the applicant has agreed to 
restrict the future occupants of the new units from access to residents parking 
permits in the event that a CPZ comes into force in the locality in the future.  
This is to be secured through a s.106 agreement  

 
Cycling Parking 
 

6.7 Core Strategy Policy CS18 seeks to promote active transport by requiring new 
development to provide cycle parking, it encourages design that provides, 
attractive, safe, covered cycle storage, cycle parking and other facilities (such 
as showers, bike cages and lockers).  

 
6.8 London Plan Policy T5 requires developments to provide appropriate levels of 

cycle parking which should be fit for purpose, secure and well-located. 
Developments should provide cycle parking at least in accordance with the 
minimum standards set out in Table 10.2 which requires 1.5 spaces per 1B2P 
units and 2 spaces for all other unit types.  The proposal comprises 3 x 2 bed 
flats and 3 x 1 bed (1B2P) flats as such 10.5 no. cycle parking spaces is 
required.  This is to be rounded up to 11 cycle parking spaces.  

 
6.9 As cycle parking cannot be accommodated within the site and to accord with 

the requirements of the aforementioned policies, a financial contribution of 
£10,000 is being sought to provide 2 x cycle hangars, which includes a 
contribution towards the new residents annual membership fee for an initial 
period of 2 years.  Each cycle hangar can accommodate 6 cycles therefore 2 
x cycle hangars are required to comply with the minimum standards.  This is 
being secured via a s106 legal agreement. 

 
 Refuse/Recycling 
 
6.10  Merton Core Strategy Policy CS17 requires new developments to demonstrate 

integrated, well-designed waste storage facilities that will include recycling 
facilities. London Plan Policies SI 7 and SI 8 identifies that in order to manage 
London's waste sustainably, the waste management capacity of existing sites 
should be optimised and developments should be designed with adequate, 
flexible, and easily accessible storage space and collection systems that 
support, as a minimum, the separate collection of dry recyclables (at least card, 
paper, mixed plastics, metals, glass), non- recyclables and food waste.   

 
6.11 It is noted that the existing refuse arrangement provides for separate residential 

and commercial refuse stores/collection.  The refuse arrangement will utilise 
existing refuse storage/collection arrangement.  It has been submitted that 
there are 3 bin stores located at ground floor level and the residents use the 
chutes in the staircases to dispose of refuse and the refuse drops into waste 

Page 74



wheel bins in the bins store areas at ground floor level. The same approach 
would apply to the residents of the new flats.  Concerns are noted in relation to 
existing refuse arrangement as such a condition is recommended for details of 
refuse management plan to be submitted for approval. 

 
6.12 The Council’s Waste Officer’s comments on the submitted Refuse Management 

Plan are pending. 
 
 Construction Impacts 
 
6.13 Concerns have been submitted in relation to the potential impact of the 

constructions works on the health, safety and security of the existing occupants.  
Whilst officers acknowledge that the site constraints may appear to make 
construction more difficult than on an easily accessible site, however this 
situation is not unusual in urban areas.  In this instance, Officers consider the 
concerns can be satisfactorily addressed by way of planning conditions 
requiring the submission of construction logistic plan and a working method 
statement to help reduce impact on surrounding residential properties.  The 
standard wording of the condition for submission of a Working Method 
Statement include details of control of dust and noise.   

 
6.14 Imposing the planning conditions requiring full details of how the development 

is to be built, will be subject of formal submission (discharge of condition) and 
review and approval by the Councils Transport and Highway officers. This level 
of detail is normally only known once the applicant has secured planning 
approval and a contractor has been appointed to undertake the build. The 
discharging of the planning condition will ensure that best practice is delivered 
and disruption to neighbouring properties is kept to a minimum. 

 
 Condition 1(e) – External Appearance 
 
6.15 Policies DM D2 and DM D3 seek to ensure a high quality of design in all 

development, which relates positively and appropriately to the siting, rhythm, 
scale, density, proportions, height, materials and massing of surrounding 
buildings and existing street patterns, historic context, urban layout and 
landscape features of the surrounding area.  Core Planning Policy CS14 
supports these SPP Policies. 

 
6.16 The proposal comprises the erection of an additional storey to provide 6 flats 

(3 x 2B3P and 3 x 1B2P) flats on top of the existing building.  Materials will 
match existing and the fenestration arrangement aligns with existing on the 
floors below.    

 
6.17 To the south is a three storey building with a pitched roof where the highest 

point is similar in height to the application site.  Adjoining the site to the north 
is a single storey building.  Further to the north is a three storey building with a 
pitched roof.   Opposite the site is a three storey residential building block.  
Whilst the site, standing at 4 storeys, is currently one of the taller buildings in 
the locality however, given the design of the nearby buildings, it is considered 

Page 75



that the additional height could be reasonable accommodated without causing 
material harm to the character of the area.   

 
6.18 Of note is the adjacent building, which benefit from a pitched roof therefore 

allowing a suitable visual transition along Grand Drive.   
 
6.19 The impact on the external appearance of the building and the locality is 

therefore considered acceptable. 
 
 Condition 1(f) – Neighbouring amenities 
 
6.20 Policy DM D2 seeks to ensure that development does not adversely impact 

on the amenity of nearby residential properties. 
 
6.21 The proposed rooftop extension would not project beyond the existing 

footprint of the building.  In view of the alignment with the building to the 
south, the impact on the adjacent 3 storey mixed use building would be 
minimal. 

 
6.22 In view of siting and distance to all other nearby occupants at Grand Drive 

and Queen Mary Avenue and existing level of overlooking afforded from the 
upper floor windows on the host building, the proposal is not considered to 
materially increase harm to the residential amenity of any of the nearby 
occupants when compared to existing situation.  In addition, the increase in 
height is not considered to materially impact on daylight/sunlight that currently 
benefits nearby occupants.     

7. LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

7.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

provides that a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance 

consideration as far as it is material. The weight to be attached to a local 

finance consideration remains a matter for the decision maker. The Mayor of 

London's CIL and Merton CIL are therefore material considerations. 

7.2 On initial assessment this development is considered liable for the Mayoral 

and Merton CIL. 

8. SECTION 106 LEGAL AGREEMENT  

8.1  The development is to be ‘Permit Free’ in line with policy CS.20 of the Core 
Planning Strategy, which seek to reduce reliance on private motor vehicles in 
locations with good access to public transport facilities. 

8.2 In line with London Plan Policy T5 which requires the provision of adequate 
cycle parking provision commensurate to the scale of the development, a 
financial contribution is being sought to enable the Council to provide 2 x cycle 
hangars in the vicinity of the application site.      

8.3 Further information in respect of the above, including details of supplementary 
research carried out in justification of the S106 requirements, can be viewed 

Page 76



here:  

 http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/planning/s106-agreements.htm 

9. Conclusion  

9.1 For the reasons given above, and taking all provisions of the GPDO (2015) 
(as amended) into account, it is concluded that the proposals should be 
granted Prior Approval. This is for the reason that the development is 
considered to be permitted development under Schedule 2, Part 20 'Changes 
of Use', Class AA 'New dwellinghouses on detached buildings in commercial 
or mixed use' of the Town and Country (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) and satisfies the relevant conditions set 
out under Criteria AA.2(1).   

 
10. RECOMMENDATION 
 
10.1 GRANT PRIOR APPROVAL subject to conditions and the completion of a 

S106 agreement covering the following heads of terms: 
 

1. £10,000 to provide 2 x cycle hangars including a contribution towards the 
new residents annual membership fee for an initial period of 2 years.  
 

2. £5,000 for amendments to Traffic Management Order and associated 
signing and lining should the cycle hangars be installed within parking 
spaces 

 
3. Restrict access to parking permits for all future occupants of the 6 new 

units created as part of the development in the event that a CPZ comes 
into force in the future 

 
4. Paying the Council’s legal and professional costs in drafting, completing 

and monitoring the legal agreement. 
 
Grant prior approval subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
1 A Non Standard 

Condition 
The development to which this prior approval relates shall be 
completed not later than the expiration of 3 years from the date of 
this permission. 
 

 

 1 Reason: To comply with The Town and Country Planning 
(Permitted Development and Miscellaneous Amendments) 
(England) (Coronavirus) Regulations 2020, Part 20, Class A. 

 

2 A7 Approved 
Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: HA22-182-P001, 
HA22-182-P006A, HA22-182-P007, HA22-182-P008, HA22-182-
P009A 

 

 1 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning 

 

Page 77



3 Materials Match 
existing 

The facing materials to be used for the development hereby 
permitted shall be those specified in the application form unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the 
development and to comply with the following Development Plan 
policies for Merton: policies D3 and D4 of the London Plan 2021, 
policy CS14 of Merton's Core Planning Strategy 2011 and 
policies DM D2 and D3 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 

 

 

4 No use of flat 
roof 

Access to the flat roof of the development hereby permitted 
shall be for maintenance or emergency purposes only, and the 
flat roof shall not be used as a roof garden, terrace, patio or 
similar amenity area. 

Reason:  To safeguard the amenities and privacy of the 
occupiers of adjoining properties and to comply with the 
following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies D3 and 
D4 of the London Plan 2021, policy CS14 of Merton's Core 
Planning Strategy 2011 and policies DM D2 and D3 of Merton's 
Sites and Policies Plan 2014. 

 

 

3 Refuse Storage No refuse or waste material of any description shall be left or 
stored anywhere on the site other than within a building or refuse 
enclosure. 
REASON: To safeguard the appearance of the property and the 
amenities of the area 

 

4 C06 Refuse & 
Recycling 
(Details to be 
Submitted) 

No development shall take place until a refuse management plan 
including details for the storage and collection of refuse and 
recycling has been submitted in writing for approval to the Local 
Planning Authority. No works which are the subject of this 
condition shall be carried out until the scheme has been 
approved, and the development shall not be 
occupied until the scheme has been approved and has been 
carried out in full. Those facilities and measures shall thereafter 
be retained for use at all times from the date of first occupation. 

 

  Reason:  To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the 
storage of refuse and recycling material and to comply with the 
following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies SI 7 and 
D6 of the London Plan 2016, policy CS17 of Merton's Core 
Planning Strategy 2011 and policy DM D2 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014. 

 

5 D11 
Construction 
Times 

No demolition or construction work or ancillary activities such as 
deliveries shall take place before 8am or after 6pm Mondays - 
Fridays inclusive, before 8am or after 1pm on Saturdays or at any 
time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

 

  Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the area and the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties and ensure compliance with 
the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies D14 
and T7 of the London Plan 2021 and policy DM EP2 of Merton's 
Sites and Polices Plan 2014. 

 

Page 78



6 CLP Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, 
a Construction Logistics Plan shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Plan shall include 
details of the provision to accommodate all site workers', visitors' 
and construction vehicles and loading /unloading arrangements 
during the construction process have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved details must be implemented and complied with for the 
duration of the construction process. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safety of pedestrians and vehicles and the 
amenities of the surrounding area and to comply with the 
following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies T4 and 
T7 of the London Plan 2021, policy CS20 of Merton's Core 
Planning Strategy 2011 and policy DM T2 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014.  

 

7 WMS Development shall not commence until a working method 
statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority to accommodate: 
(i) Parking of vehicles of site workers and visitors; 

(ii) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

(iii) Storage of construction plant and materials; 

(iv) Wheel cleaning facilities; 

(v) Control of dust, smell and other effluvia (Air Quality 

measures); 

(vi) Control of surface water run-off; 

(vii) Noise mitigation measures; 

(viii) Delivery methods including timing, size and frequency of 

construction vehicles. 

No development shall be carried out except in full accordance 
with the approved method statement. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safety of pedestrians and vehicles and the 
amenities of the surrounding area and to comply with the 
following Development Plan policies for Merton: policies T4 and 
T7 of the London Plan 2021, policy CS20 of Merton's Core 
Planning Strategy 2011 and policy DM T2 of Merton's Sites and 
Policies Plan 2014. 

 

8 A Non Standard 
Condition 

All Non-road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used during the course 
of the development that is within the scope of the Greater London 
Authority 'Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and 
Demolition' Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) dated July 
2014, or any subsequent amendment or guidance, shall comply 
with the emission requirements therein. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area and the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties and ensure compliance with 
the following Development Plan policies for Merton: policy D14 of 

 

Page 79



the London Plan 2021 and policies DM D2, DM D3, DM EP2 and 
DM EP4 of Merton's Sites and Policies Plan 2014.  

9 INF 20 Street 
naming and 
numbering 

INFORMATIVE 
This permission creates one or more new units which will require 
a correct postal address. Please contact the Street Naming & 
Numbering Officer at the London Borough of Merton 
 
Street Naming and Numbering (Business Improvement Division) 
Corporate Services 
7th Floor, Merton Civic Centre 
London Road 
Morden 
SM4 5DX 
Email: street.naming@merton.gov.uk 
 

 

10 INF 11 
Drainage 

INFORMATIVE 
It is the responsibility of the developer to make proper provision 
for drainage to ground, watercourses or a suitable sewer.  In 
respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant 
should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into 
the receiving public network through on or off-site storage.  When 
it is proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the site 
drainage should be separate and combined at the final manhole 
nearest the boundary.  Connections are not permitted for the 
removal of ground water.  Where the developer proposes to 
discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water 
Developer Services will be required (contact no. 0845 850 2777). 
 

 

11 INF 01 Party 
Walls Act 

INFORMATIVE 
The applicant is advised to check the requirements of the Party 
Wall Act 1996 relating to work on an existing wall shared with 
another property, building on the boundary with a neighbouring 
property, or excavating near a neighbouring building. Further 
information is available at the following link:  
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/buildingregulations/buildingpolic
yandlegislation/current legislation/partywallact 
 

 

12 INF 00 Non-
Standard/ Blank 
Informative 

INFORMATIVE 
The applicant should be aware that the site may provide a useful 
habitat for swifts. Swifts are currently in decline in the UK and in 
order to encourage and improve the conservation of swifts the 
applicant is advised to consider the installation of a swift nesting 
box/bricks on the site. 
 
 

 

13 INF 00 Non-
Standard/ Blank 
Informative 

INFORMATIVE 
CIL Liable 
 

 

Page 80



The applicant is advised that this permission results in a 
chargeable scheme under the Borough's and the Mayor of 
London's Community Infrastructure Levy. 
 
 
Section 106 Agreement 
 
This planning permission has a Section 106 Agreement which 
must be read in 
conjunction with it. 

14 INF 00 Non-
Standard/ Blank 
Informative 

INFORMATIVE 
Damage to the public highway: 
 
Care should be taken to ensure that no damage is caused to the 
public highway adjacent to the site during demolition and (or) 
construction. The Council will seek to recover any expenses 
incurred in repairing or making good such damage from the 
owner of the land in question or the person causing or 
responsible for the damage.  
BEFORE ANY WORK COMMENCES you MUST contact the 
London Borough of Merton, Telephone 020 8274 4901 to arrange 
a pre-commencement photographic survey of the public highways 
adjacent to and within the vicinity of the site. The precondition 
survey will ensure you are not charged for any damage which 
existed prior to commencement of your works. 
If you fail to contact us to arrange a pre commencement survey 
then it will be assumed that any damage to the highway was 
caused by your activities and you will be charged the full cost of 
repair. 
Once the site works are completed you need to contact us again 
to arrange for a post construction inspection to be carried out. If 
there is no further damage then the case will be closed. If 
damage or further damage is found to have occurred then you will 
be asked to pay for repairs to be carried out. 
 
Noise control - Building sites: 
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of 
section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the 
minimisation of noise and vibration on construction and demolition 
sites. Application, under section 61 of the Act for prior consent to 
the works, can be made to the Environmental Health Department. 
 
Under the Act the Council has certain powers to control noise 
from construction sites. Typically the council will limit the times 
during which sites are permitted to make noise that their 
neighbours can hear. 
 
For general construction works the Council usually imposes 
(when necessary) the following limits on noisy works:- 
Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm 

 

Page 81



Saturdays 8am to 1pm 
Sundays and Public Holidays- No noisy activities allowed 
 
Applicants should also be aware of the guidance contained in 
British Standard 5228;2009- Noise and vibration control on 
construction and open sites. 

 
 
 
 

Page 82



NORTHGATE SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

 

414

348

461

402

El Sub Sta

410a

410c

358

352

34 344

340

34
6

356

35
4

350

1 to 9

418

Crocus Court

372

TCB

Shelter

Shelter

62

24

1

29 to 3228

14
 t

o 
17

63 to 69

18 t
o 23

61

20.5m

49 to 55

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
E

R
E

58
56

19.7m

5

37 to 40

CLO
SE

42

48 47

60

59

41

Court

Kelstone

Church

77

St Martin's

40

42

41

39

PO

LB

Shelter
G

R
A

N
D

66

76

30
0

88

71

6 to 11

Edinburgh

19.6m

C
ourt

16 to  19

48

QUEEN MARY AVENUE

20 to 23

CONISTON

D
R

IV
E

C
LO

S
E

64

30

24 to 29

12 to 15

67

55  t o 6 1

37

38

19.8m

312

310

31632
0

46

51

338

334

330

44

336

33
2

328

318

314

53

324

322

49

326

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE  
16th March 2023.  
  
                                                                                                                Item No:   
UPRN                      APPLICATION NO.                                     DATE VALID  
                                           23/P0237                                                   30.01.2023  
  
Address/Site          153 Links Road 
                                Tooting 
                                SW17 9EW 

 

  
Ward:                     Graveney   
  
Proposal:             CHANGE OF USE FROM C3 (DWELLINGHOUSE) TO C4 6 

RESIDENT (House in Multiple Occupation)    
   
Drawing Nos:      Site location plan and drawing LIN-TA-XX-XX-DR-A-520001 P06 

   
Contact Officer: Leigh Harrington (020 8545 3836)  
______________________________________________________________  
  
RECOMMENDATION  
Grant planning permission subject to conditions.   
  
______________________________________________________________  
  
CHECKLIST INFORMATION.  
  

 Heads of agreement: No  
 Is a screening opinion required: No  
 Is an Environmental Statement required: No  
 Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No  
 Design Review Panel consulted: No   
 Number of neighbours consulted: 26  
 Press notice – No  
 Site notice –Yes  
 External consultations: No  
 Archaeological Priority Zone – No  
 Controlled Parking Zone – Yes, GC   

  
1. INTRODUCTION  

  
1.1 The application has been brought before the Committee at the request of Councillor 

Mundy as a previous application for a 7 person HMO at this site (LBM Ref 
22/P1990) was refused by members at a previous Planning Committee. The 
application is subject to a requirement for planning permission because an HMO 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



with 6 residents is subject to a requirement for planning permission following 
Merton’s imposition of an Article 4 direction in this ward.  

 
  
2.       SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  
2.1     The application site is an end terrace house located on the north side of Links Road 

at the junction with Jersey Road in Tooting. The rear of the property has now been 
subdivided such that the rear garage structure no longer relates to this site. The 
house benefits from a hip to gable and rear roof dormer extension.  

  
  2.2   The site is not located within a Conservation Area nor is it in anyway listed. The 

site is located within the GC controlled parking zone and has a public transport 
accessibility level (PTAL) of 2 (0 being the lowest and 6b being the best).   

 
 

3.        CURRENT PROPOSAL  
  
3.1     The proposals are for the conversion of the existing C3 Dwellinghouse into a 6 

resident HMO.   
  

3.2     On the ground floor there would be a single occupancy ensuite bedroom to the 
front with a communal kitchen/dining room and a living room to the rear with access 
out to the recently re-turfed communal garden, bike and bin stores.  

            
3.3     The first floor would accommodate 3x single bedrooms, two of which would be 

ensuite. The room that was previously proposed as a single bedroom to the front 
would now be a study room providing working from home space for future 
residents.  

  
3.4    The roof extensions would accommodate 2 single ensuite bedrooms and a spacious 

bathroom for the two non-ensuite bedrooms on the first floor.  
 
3.5    There are no additions proposed to the building, the only physical exterior changes 

being a small repositioning of a first floor rear window. 
  
 

4.       PLANNING HISTORY  
  

4.1   22/P1990 APPLICATION refused by PAC FOR THE PROPOSED CHANGE OF 
USE OF A DWELLING HOUSE TO A 7-BED (7 PERSON) HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION. Reason for refusal; The proposed House in Multiple Occupation 
by reason of design, layout and quantum of occupancy is considered to represent 
a poorly designed overdevelopment of the site resulting in unacceptable impacts 
in terms of poor quality living conditions & amenity for future occupiers and waste 
management arrangements contrary to London Plan 2021 Policy H9, Merton Sites 
and Policies Plan 2014 policy DM D2 and Merton Core Strategy 2011 policy CS17. 

 

Page 86



 
4.2   22/P3238 APPLICATION undetermined FOR A LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT 

CERTIFICATE IN RESPECT OF THE PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM C3 
(DWELLINGHOUSE) TO C4 6 RESIDENT (HMO) 

 
4.3  22/P1537 APPLICATION refused FOR A LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE 

IN RESPECT OF THE PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM C3 
(DWELLINGHOUSE) TO C4 (HMO) AND THE ERECTION OF A SINGLE 
STOREY REAR EXTENSION. Reasons for refusal The proposed level of 
occupation with 8 bedrooms would exceed the 3-6 occupier threshold as set out in 
Class C4 (Houses in multiple occupation) of The Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (As amended). The proposed development would therefore 
be Sui Generis (Large Houses in multiple occupation) for which planning 
permission would be required. 

 
           And 
 
          The proposed single storey rear extension would not constitute an extension to a 

dwellinghouse as permitted by Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A (enlargement, 
improvement or other alteration of a dwellinghouse) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development (England) order 2015 (as amended). 
Planning permission would therefore be required. 

 
4.4      22/P1279 LAWFUL  DEVELOPMENT  CERTIFICATE issued IN RESPECT  OF 

THE PROPOSED ERECTION OF A SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION  
  

4.5      21/P1096 APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 191 Withdrawn by applicant THAT 
THE USE OF GARAGE AT LAND TO THE REAR OF 153 LINKS ROAD AS 
STORAGE (USE WITHIN CLASS B8) IS LAWFUL FOR PLANNING PURPOSES  
  

4.6     20/P3802 Planning permission granted for the PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 
OUTBUILDINGS AND ERECTION OF A REPLACEMENT GARAGE.   
  
  

4.7     06/P0490 CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS issued FOR A PROPOSED REAR 
ROOF EXTENSION.  

  
 

 

 

  
5.        CONSULTATION  

  
5.1.    Consultation letters sent to 26 neighbouring properties and site notice posted. Three 

letters of objection were received raising concerns relating to; 
• Probability of Increased noise nuisance by the occupants  
• Potential of crime and disorder  

Page 87



• Limited parking spaces available for use due to the number of persons living 
at the  property and surrounding occupants on Jersey Road.  

• Potential of over inflation of other rented properties in the area. 
• It will change the character of the neighbourhood which is currently almost 

exclusively single family houses,  
• The works had started before the application was submitted and would 

create a precedent that works can be undertaken ahead of any planning 
permission being sought and that it is therefore a mere formality lightly 
undertaken;  

• From a social and ethical perspective in my opinion the house is not large 
enough to support six separate tenants nor is the neighbourhood's 
infrastructure should this become more common. 
 

 
5.2      The Council’s HMO Officer commented;  

“I have looked at the plans and property meets HMO Standards for amenities 

and crowding and space, but there is no mention of the early fire warning 

system in the property. As the property is 3-storey there will need to be a 

panelled fire alarm system. Confirmation of this will on plan comply with HMO 

Requirements”. The team has received (02/03/2023) a licensing application for 

4-7 residents.  

5.3      The Council’s Waste services section commented; 
That these would be treated as kerbside waste collection service. Therefore for the 
6 residents, the following sets of bins are recommended for a fortnight collection 
service. Food waste remains a weekly service: 
 1x 240L + 1x 180L wheelie bins for general refuse 
 1x 240L wheelie bin for paper/card 
 Individual mixed recycling boxes or 1x 240L wheelie bin for mixed   recycling 
 Individual food caddies 
They need to be presented for collection on the relevant day within arm’s reach of 
the front gate.  

 
5.4    The Council’s lead officer on the Article 4 Direction raised no objection to the 

application  but noted that “a compensation claim may be made for either a refusal 

of an Application or the imposition of a Planning Condition which affects the value 

of the development and arguably making it permit free does that”. 

5.5   Shared Legal Services commented; 

      “In order to qualify for compensation there needs to be a refusal of a planning 

application for development that would have been PD but for the A4D.  The refusal 

also needs to be not more than 12 months from the date that the A4D comes into 

operation. 

Page 88



Although I believe that it is not relevant with the recent A4D there is an exception to 

the above in section 108(3)(c) that provides that compensation is not payable under 

section 108 in the event that notice of the A4D is given not less than 12 months nor 

more than the “prescribed period” from the date that the A4D takes effect. 

The “prescribed period” for the purposes of section 108(3)(c) of the T&CP Act 1990 

is 24 months - see Regulation 4(b) of the T&CP(Compensation)(England) 

Regulations 2012.” 

5.6  The Council’s Parking Permits team confirmed that the allocation of parking permits 

is considered in the same way for family homes as they are for HMOs in that this is 

no limit on the number that can be applied for but the cost increases for each 

subsequent permit that is issued. 

 
6.        POLICY CONTEXT  

6.1     Relevant policies in the London Plan 2021: 
          D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach  
          D6 Housing quality and standards 

D11 Safety and security 
D14 Noise 
H1 Increasing housing supply  
H6 Housing standards 
H9 Ensuring the best use of stock  
T5 Cycling 
T6.1 Residential parking 
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts  
SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy  

 
6.2     Merton adopted Core Strategy (July 2011):  

CS2 Mitcham Sub-Area 
           CS8 Housing Choice 
           CS9 Housing Provision 
           CS14 Design 
           CS15 climate change 
           CS17 Refuse 
           CS18 Active transport 
           CS20 Parking, servicing and delivery 
 
6.3      Merton adopted Sites and Policies Plan (July 2014):  

DM H5 Student housing, other housing with shared facilities and bedsits 
DM D2 Design considerations in all developments  
DM D3 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings 
DM EP2 Reducing and mitigating noise 
DM T1 Support for sustainable transport and active travel 

Page 89



DM T2 Transport impacts of development 
DM T3 Car parking and servicing standards 

 
6.4     Other guidance: 
          London Housing SPG - 2016 
          London Character and Context SPG - 2014 
          Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment – 2014 

 London Borough of Merton Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Requirements  
 (Revised July 2019) 

          Waste and Recycling Storage Requirements, a Guidance note for Architects 
  
 
 
 
7.      PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS   
  
7.1    The principal planning considerations in this case relate to the impact that the 

proposed development would have on the existing building, the character of the 
local area, the impact that it would have on the amenity of neighbouring residents 
and future occupiers.  

 

7.2       Principle  
        Policy H9 of the London Plan notes that HMO accommodation is a strategically 

important of London’s housing offer although it does acknowledge that it’s quality 
can give rise to concern. In terms of the standard of accommodation for the HMO, 
this is largely addressed under Licencing requirements as opposed to through the 
planning system. The level of occupancy would be set out in the decision notice, 6 
residents, as the level of occupancy is specified in the application description and 
is additionally controlled through the HMO licensing system and subject to periodic 
inspection and control. Therefore the approved level of occupation would be 6 
residents and planning permission would be required to increase this although 
given the size of the existing house, even extended, this increased level of 
occupation would be unlikely to be supported by officers as 6 is considered the 
maximum that can be comfortably accommodated and still provide the high 
standard of accommodation that would be available on site.  

  
7.2.1  As a matter of background for members, where HMO applications have been 

refused elsewhere in the borough this has often been due to the high numbers of 
occupiers and the impact of so many people living in one property. In this instance 
the proposed level of occupancy is 6 which, were an area not covered by an Article 
4 Direction, would be allowable under permitted development rights.  

 

  
7.3     Impact on the existing building. 
         The proposals do not involve any additions to the existing building and since the 

previous scheme was refused the applicant has undertaken works to repaint the 
property, re-turf the lawn and replace the previous poor-quality fencing. The 

Page 90



building is now much improved in its appearance and is considered to enhance the 
appearance of the wider setting. The additional facilities that would be required, 
namely the cycle storage, would be accommodated in the rear garden from where 
there is direct access out to Jersey Road and refuse facilities can be readily 
accommodated in the front garden. The changes to the first floor rear fenestration 
involved blocking up an existing window and replacing it with a window to match 
the existing such that both windows appear to match. Consequently it is considered 
that the impact on the appearance of the existing building would be minimal.  

 
 
7.4      Impact on the character of the area. 
7.4.1  Policy DM H5 of the Site and Policies (July 2014) aims to create socially mixed 

communities, catering for all sectors of the community by providing a choice of 
housing with respect to dwelling size and type in the borough. The policy states 
that Houses in Multiple Occupation Housing will be supported provided that the 
following criteria are met:  

            
i.  The proposal will not involve the loss of permanent housing;  

           

           Officer comment  
 
          The current lawful use of the existing application property is as a single dwelling 

and the current application involves the use of existing rooms. A house in multiple 
occupation is a form of permanent housing where occupants have their own 
bedrooms, have access to shared facilities and take care of their own everyday 
needs. Paragraph 2.59 in the Supporting text to the policy also states that short 
stay accommodation is intended for occupancy of less than 90 days. The proposal 
is therefore, considered acceptable in regard to this criteria.  

 
 
ii.  The proposal will not compromise the capacity to meet the supply of land 

for additional self-contained homes;  
             
            Officer comment  

 
          The current application involves the use of an existing building and will therefore 

not compromise any capacity to meet the supply of land for additional self-
contained homes.  

 
  
 iii.       The proposal meets an identified local need;  
             
            Officer comment  
            
      The Merton Strategic Housing Market Assessment was commissioned by the Council 

to guide the Council’s future housing policies including the adopted Sites and 

Page 91



Policies Plan. The report of the Housing Market Assessment findings advises that 
“Much of the growth of extra households in both the low and high estimates is 
expected to be single persons. For the low estimates there is projected to be a rise 
of 6,900 in number of non-pensioner single person households and 1,900 single 
pensioners in the period 2006-2026. The high estimates show there are projected 
to be rises of 7,900 non-pensioner single person households and 2,600 single 
pensioners”. The assessment further advises that “The implication of this situation 
for younger person single households is that they create demand for the private 
rented sector and this in turn drives its growth. Given that the income of many 
single people is below the threshold for market housing there would be a 
considerable demand for intermediate affordable housing”. The Housing Market 
Assessment found that much of the growth of extra households is expected to be 
single persons. The proposal is therefore considered to meet an identified local 
need.  

 
iv.   The proposal will not result in an overconcentration of similar uses detrimental 

to residential character and amenity;  
            
           Officer comment   
 
        The application site is in an area of predominantly family housing and the submitted 

proposal for the house in multiple occupation will increase the range of residential 
accommodation that is available locally. Please note that the Housing Strategy 
Statistical Appendix (HSSA) 2007 for Merton estimated that only 0.55% of Merton’s 
population live in communal residences whereas the London average was 1.8%, 
which means there is a significantly lower concentration of this type of 
accommodation in Merton compared to the rest of London.  

 
        In relation to numbers of registered HMOs in the area there are 25 in SW17, of which 

this would be the 6th in Links Road but this would only represent around 2.5% of 
the 265 houses in Links Road. In the CR4 2- - postcode area which covers much 
of Graveney Ward there are 63 registered HMOs, around 10 of which are in an 
adjoining ward (Figges Marsh). NB properties are registered by address and not 
ward but as an approximation there are around 75-80 Registered HMOs in 
Graveney Ward but smaller HMOs on only two floors do not have to be registered. 
Officers therefore consider that whilst there are other HMO’s in the surrounding 
area, the prevailing properties remain either single family dwellings or flats, in this 
instance, there is no evidence that the conversion of this property into a HMO 
would result in an overconcentration.           

 
          There have been concerns amongst Councillors relating to the cumulative effect of 

high numbers of HMO premises in the borough, especially those of low quality and 
poorly managed, and in particular in this and the surrounding wards. As a result an 
Article 4 Direction restricting them under permitted development was adopted with 
immediate effect (although it is still under consultation).  

 

Page 92



         Officers therefore consider that the proposal will not result in an overconcentration 
of similar uses and will not be detrimental to residential character. The impact of 
amenity is considered later will this assessed further later in this report.  

 
 v.        The proposal complies with all relevant standards;  

 

             Officer comment  
 
         The proposal complies with relevant standards including those set out in the London 

Borough of Merton Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Requirements (Revised 
July 2021) and has been improved externally since the original submission and 
has been finished and equipped internally to a very high standard. 

  
 
vi.       The proposal is fully integrated into the residential surroundings;  
 
             Officer comment  
 
         The current application does not include any external alterations other than a small 

repositioning of a first floor rear window. It is therefore considered that the 
proposal is fully integrated into the residential surroundings. 

 
 
7.4.2  The Mayor of London Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) on housing 

advises that “Outside London they are sometimes associated with concentrations 
of particular types of occupier e.g. students, leading to concerns about the social 
mix of some localities. In London, the occupier profile tends to be more broadly 
based and HMOs play a particularly important role in supporting labour market 
flexibility (especially for new entrants), and in reducing pressure on publicly 
provided affordable housing. However, as elsewhere in the country, their quality 
can give rise to concern”. 

  
7.5     The impact on neighbour amenity  

             
          SPP Policies DM D2 and DM D3 and London Plan Policy D3 require proposals to 

ensure that development does not adversely impact on the amenity of nearby 
residential properties. The design-led approach of Policy D3 requires consideration 
of design options to determine the most appropriate form of development that 
responds to a site’s context and capacity for growth, and existing and planned 
supporting infrastructure capacity. 

 
7.5.1  There have been neighbour objections to the physical works relating to these 

proposals. There are no new physical exterior works proposed and therefore there 
are not considered to be any concerns in relation to overlooking, loss of light, visual 
intrusion etc.  

 

Page 93



7.5.2  With six adults living on site there is the potential for greater levels of noise and 
activity including later at night than might be the case with a single-family dwelling 
and there have been neighbour objections in this regard. However, with 6 residents 
this would only be what would be allowable under permitted development rights (If 
not subject to the Article 4 Direction) and it is considered that this would not 
represent enough of a difference to robustly justify refusal of the proposals on the 
grounds of harm to the amenity of neighbours. From a site visit it is apparent that 
the proposal is tailored towards a higher income bracket and the accompanying 
management document sets out the target market for residents such that officers 
would expect that future residents would be no more prone to anti-social behaviour 
than any other young professionals. Consequently it is considered that noise 
disturbance and anti-social behaviour concerns can be given little weight and 
would not justify a refusal of the application.  

 
 
7.6     Standard of accommodation  
 
7.6.1   London Plan policy H9 notes that the quality of some HMO properties can be a 

cause for concern whilst policy D3 requires that developments achieve indoor and 
outdoor environments that are comfortable and inviting for people to use. As noted 
above, certain standards of accommodation are addressed through the 
requirement to Licence an HMO. 

 
 7.6.2 The HMO Licensing requirements relate to the number and size of shared facilities, 

internal bedroom size etc. This would not override the requirement for the 
accommodation to be of a high and well-designed standard. The rooms all exceed 
the minimum space standards (some bedrooms have ensuite bathrooms), are all 
of a relatively regular shape which allows for a more efficient use of the space and 
benefit from acceptable levels of natural light (although room 6 in the roof has 
limited outlook). 

 
7.6.3   From a site visit it was apparent that the property has been finished to a very high 

standard. Good quality matching carpet has been used throughout the property. 
Bedrooms have individual thermostat controls and come with very good quality 
beds and mattresses and well-appointed bathrooms whilst the shared bathroom is 
generously proportioned. In addition, the shared living spaces  include a 21sqm 
kitchen/dining area with good quality furniture and wooden flooring, two large 
cupboards per resident as well as shared storage space, two sinks, two cookers 
with extraction systems and two dishwashers, all finished to a high standard. There 
is a 12sqm living space with sofa and Television along with a communal work 
space room on the first floor. With the removal of the old lean-to rear conservatory, 
replacement fencing and new turf the future occupiers would be provided with a 
relatively attractive good sized rear garden amenity area. Officers consider that the 
applicant has now demonstrated that the proposal would provide a good quality 
living environment for future occupiers.  

 

Page 94



7.6.4  The Council’s HMO officer has confirmed no objection to the proposal as it would 
meet our requirements/standards. 

 
 
7.7     Parking and highway considerations  
     At a local level Policy CS20 requires developers to demonstrate that their development 

will not adversely affect on-street parking or traffic management. Policies DMT1-
T3 seek to ensure that developments do not result in congestion, have a minimal 
impact on existing transport infrastructure and provide suitable levels of parking. 
The site is within CPZ GC but does not provide any off-street parking spaces for 
future residents, either for cars or motorcycles/scooters. Residents would be 
eligible for resident parking permits. Because the Article 4 direction was imposed 
with immediate effect and not subject to the normal 12 months notification period 
an applicant can seek compensation for any condition or restriction imposed on a 
proposal that would otherwise be Permitted Development if such imposition 
impacted the value of the development.  

 
7.7.1 Consequently officers do not recommend that a s106 agreement for permit free 

development be made a condition of approval for the application. 
 
7.7.2   Cycle Parking  
       London Plan Policy T5 requires 1 long stay space per 1 bedroom (1 person) dwelling, 

which means a total of 7 spaces should be provided. It is considered that the 
proposal would comply with this policy with 7 secure covered cycle spaces 
provided at the rear of the property.  

 
 
7.8     Refuse facilities  
 
7.8.1  London Plan policy D6 states Housing should be designed with adequate and easily 

accessible storage space that supports the separate collection of dry recyclables 
(for at least card, paper, mixed plastics, metals, glass) and food waste as well as 
residual waste.  

 
7.8.2  The need for adequate levels of refuse facilities can often have a detrimental impact 

on the appearance of a building when the frontage becomes dominated by large 
numbers of wheelie bins. The Council’s waste services have changed the 
approach to these properties, treating them as a house with 6 residents sharing 
facilities rather than 6 units each with its own refuse facilities which would lead to 
undue clutter. Therefore the site would be provided with the larger 240ltr bins which 
are the same as those provided to houses with larger families/more adults. As with 
any house it would be the occupiers responsibility to present the relevant bins for 
kerbside presentation on collection day.  

 
7.8.3   In view of this, it is considered that the site can readily accommodate the required 

facilities with the same visual impact as if the property were a multi generational 

Page 95



family home with more than the average number of adult occupiers. The proposals 
are therefore considered acceptable and to have overcome previous concerns in 
relation to refuse arrangements and management.  

 
 
8.        ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
8.1    The application does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. 

Accordingly, there are no requirements in terms of EIA submission.  
 
 
9.       CONCLUSION  
 
9.1   It is considered that the proposed 6-person HMO would offer good quality 

accommodation tailored to people who require an attractive living environment but 
by virtue of being individuals are often priced out of the flat rental market and are 
not eligible for social housing. Whilst there are other HMOs in the local area, the 
prevailing character of the area remains single family houses and flats. Whilst 
poorly designed, poorly managed and over crowded HMOs can have a negative 
impact on occupiers and neighbour amenity as well as the character of the wider 
environment, this is not considered to be the case in this instance with the 
applicants demonstrating that they would provide the sort of high quality HMO 
accommodation that would provide a positive addition to local housing stock in the 
Borough. 

 
9.2   The proposal involves no additions to the existing building and the refuse and cycle 

facilities to serve the six occupiers, which are considered acceptable, can be 
readily housed in the front garden and therefore there would be no harm to the 
appearance of the host building.  

 
9.3     On the previously refused scheme for 7 residents it was recommended that a legal 

agreement to make the development permit free be attached. However, as this is 
a planning application submitted only because there is an Article 4 Direction that 
has not been in place for the requisite period of time, imposing such a restriction 
can impact the value of the property and leave the Council open to a claim of 
compensation. Therefore the s106 agreement for a permit free development is not 
recommended in this case.  

 
9.4    In view of these factors and in light of the improved quality of the accommodation 

and reduction in numbers of occupiers to what would normally be within permitted 
development rights, it is considered that the applicant has successfully overcome 
the previous reasons for refusal and that there would be no robust reasons to 
refuse the application and therefore it is recommended that the proposal be 
approved subject to conditions. 

 

 

  

Page 96



10.       RECOMMENDATION  
         GRANT Planning Permission subject to Conditions  
  

1. A1 Commencement of Development    
  
2. A7 Approved Plans; Site location plan and drawing LIN-TA-XX-XX-

DR-A-520001 P06 

  
3.     C07 Refuse & Recycling – The use shall not commence until the               

refuse facilities shown on the approved plans are available and 
operational.   

  
4.      H7 Cycle facilities - The use shall not commence until the               

refuse facilities shown on the approved plans are available and 
operational.    

 

5.     The development hereby approved shall be limited to a total of six 
residents.  

 
Reason; To ensure a satisfactory standard of accommodation for  

  future occupiers, minimise impacts on neighbour amenity and 
provide an appropriate form of development that responds to a site’s context 
and capacity for growth in accordance with Merton Development Plan 
policies; Policy D3 of the London Plan 2021 and Policies DM D2, DM D3 
and H5 of the Merton Sites and Policies Plan 2014    

  
  

 

Page 97



NORTHGATE SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

 

195

a

195

203

190

246

167

232

236 LINKS ROAD

2b

4

2c

164

20

2a

2

191

20.0m

181

148

128

116

140

200

186

172

21.5m

93

22.6m

81

155

153

218

204

19.0m

27 144

24

137

141

139

2

4

31

H
A

IL
S

H
A

M
 R

O
A

D

2a

1

12

2

13

1

Hall

IP
S

W
IC

H
 R

O
A

D

1 to 12

133

18.7m

JE
R

S
E

Y
 R

O
A

D

15

12

150

23

24

10

2

1

13

148

TCB 2b

2a

2c

El

Sub Sta

Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



P
age 105



P
age 106



 

www.merton.gov.uk 

Committee: Planning Applications Committee  
 
Date:  16th March 2023 
 

Agenda item:  

 

Wards:       Cannon Hill 

 

Subject:              Objection to the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 
at 12 Thurleston Avenue, Morden, SM4 4BW.                          

 

Contact Officer Rose Stepanek:  0208 545 3815 

rose.stepanek@merton.gov.uk   

 

Recommendation:  

      That the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 be confirmed without 
modification. 

 

1.        Purpose of report and executive summary 

This report considers the objection that has been made to the making of this 
tree preservation order. Members must consider the objection before deciding 
whether or not to confirm the Order, with/without modification. 

2.       Planning History 

2.1  On the 27 October, the Council received a request from the ‘Friends of 
Cherrywood’ for a tree preservation order to be made in respect of the Oak tree 
located in the rear garden of 12 Thurleston Avenue. The reason for the request 
was given as: ‘Cherrywood is a protected nature reserve and a similar oak in a 
nearby garden has been felled.’ 

 2.3 Cherry Wood is a small, mainly oak woodland lying in suburban Morden and 
within an area of housing developed in the 1930’s with an additional small 
remnant of the wood now isolated within the grounds of Hillcross Middle School. 
Prior to the 1930’s Cherry Wood covered a more extensive area and the Oak 
tree under consideration is thought to be an original tree belonging to that 
woodland, but has since been retained as part of the development of Thurleston 
Avenue. 

2.4 The Oak tree is a mature specimen which is visible from Thurleston Avenue and 
Shaldon Drive. The Oak tree is positioned behind an outbuilding and the 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 

www.merton.gov.uk 

majority of the canopy overhangs the roof of the structure. On the 17th 
November 2022, the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 took effect. 
A copy of the plan is appended to this report. 

3. Legislative Background 

3.1 Section 198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), 
empowers Local Planning Authorities to protect trees in the interests of amenity, 
by making tree preservation orders. Points to consider when considering a tree 
preservation order are whether the particular tree has a significant impact on the 
environment and its enjoyment by the public, and that it is expedient to make a 
tree preservation order.  

3.2 When issuing a tree preservation order, the Local Planning Authority must 
provide reasons why the tree has been protected by a tree preservation order. 
In this particular case 9 reasons were given that include references to the visual 
amenity value of the tree to the area; that the tree has an intrinsic beauty; that 
the tree forms part of Cherry Wood; that the tree makes a significant 
contribution to the character and appearance to the local area; that the tree 
forms part of our collective heritage for present and future generations; that the 
tree is an integral part of the urban forest; that the tree contributes to the local 
bio-diversity; and protects against climate change. 

3.3 Under the terms of the provisional status of an Order, objections or 
representations may be made within 28 days of the date of effect of the Order. 
The Council must consider those objections or representations before any 
decision is made to confirm or rescind the Order.  

3.4 If the tree preservation order is not confirmed, the Oak tree can be removed. 

4. Objection to the Order 

4.1 The Council has received an objection to the Order from the resident of 12 
Thurleston Avenue.   

4.2 The objection has been summarised as follows: 

 That the tree has dead branches and these are regularly shed especially 
in windy conditions, and this causes a concern over risks to members of 
the family. 

 That the tree preservation order will present difficulties in being able to 
manage the tree. 

 That the tree preservation order will create a financial burden to maintain 
the tree at their expense. 

 The tree preservation order will devalue the property. 

 The tree preservation order will impose unnecessary restrictions severely 
limit their options to deal with the tree in timely manner. 

5. Planning Considerations 

5.1 The Tree Officer would respond to each of the objector’s respective points as 
follows: 

Page 108



 

www.merton.gov.uk 

 The planning regulations do allow for certain exceptions to the Act and 
these include the removal of dead wood. The exceptions allow removal of 
dead branches from a living tree without prior notice or consent.   

 As above 

 As above 

 The tree preservation order does not add any greater financial burden 
than if the tree were being managed without a tree preservation order. 
Any other work to the tree must be submitted using a Tree Works 
Application Form, and this is a free service. The timing of the submission 
of the form is entirely up to the resident or their agent and the consent is 
valid for 2 years. 

 Research has shown that trees can add to the value of the property. Their 
presence promotes greenery that is appreciated by new homeowners. 
This Oak tree is located at the bottom of the garden, behind an existing 
outbuilding and therefore its location should not place any unreasonable 
limitations in terms of any future home improvements. 

 This has been covered in the first point.  

6. Officer Recommendations 

6.1 The Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 should be confirmed 
without modification. 

7.       Consultation undertaken or proposed 

None required for the purposes of this report 

8.       Timetable  

           N/A 

9.       Financial, resource and property implications 

               The Order may be challenged in the High Court and legal costs are likely to be 
incurred by Merton. However, it is not possible to quantify at this time, and may 
be recoverable from the property owners if the Court finds in favour of the 
Authority.           

10.      Legal and statutory implications 

               The current tree preservation order takes effect for a period of 6 months or until 
confirmed, whichever is the earlier. There is no right of appeal to the Secretary 
of State. Any challenge would have to be in the High Court. 

11.      Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications 

N/A 

12.      Crime and disorder implications 

N/A 

13.      Risk Management and Health and Safety implications.  

N/A 

Page 109



 

www.merton.gov.uk 

14.      Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this 
report and form part of the report Background Papers  

Tree Preservation Order plan 

15.     Background Papers 

The file on the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 
Government Planning Practice Guidance on Tree Preservation Orders and 
trees in conservation areas. 

Page 110



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Planning Applications 
Date:    16th March 2023 
 

Subject: Planning Appeal Decisions  
Lead officer: Head of Sustainable Communities 
Lead member: Chair, Planning Applications Committee 
 

Recommendation:  

That Members note the contents of the report. 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 For Members’ information recent decisions made by Inspectors appointed by the 

Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in respect of recent 
Town Planning Appeals are set out below. 

1.2 The relevant Inspectors decision letters are not attached to this report but can be 
viewed by following each individual link. Other agenda papers for this meeting 
can be viewed on the Committee Page of the Council Website via the following 
link: 
 

LINK TO COMMITTEE PAGE 
 
 

DETAILS  
 

Application Number   21/P2879 
Appeal number:   APP/T5720/D/21/3289085 

Site:     69 Pepys Road, Raynes Park SW20 8NL 
Development:  PROPOSED ERECTION OF REAR ROOF EXTENSIONS 
Recommendation:  Refuse (Delegated) 
Appeal Decision:   WITHDRAWN 
Date of Appeal Decision: 7th February 2023 

 

click LINK TO DECISION NOTICE 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10

https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=155
https://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000115000/1000115640/21P2879_Appeal%20Withdrawal%20Notice.pdf


Application Number   21/P3938 
Appeal number:   APP/T5720/W/22/3298983 

Site:     2 Glenthorpe Road, Morden SM4 4JW 
Development:  PROPOSED ERECTION OF A SINGLE STOREY, SELF CONTAINED, 2 

BEDROOM DWELLINGHOUSE, WITH PARKING AND RESURFACED 
ACCESS. 

Recommendation:  Refusal (Delegated) 
Appeal Decision:   DISMISSED 
Withdrawal Date:  6th February 2023 

 

click LINK TO DECISION NOTICE 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 
Alternative options 
 
3.1 The appeal decision is final unless it is successfully challenged in the Courts.  If 

a challenge is successful, the appeal decision will be quashed and the case 
returned to the Secretary of State for re-determination.  It does not follow 
necessarily that the original appeal decision will be reversed when it is re-
determined. 

 
3.2 The Council may wish to consider taking legal advice before embarking on a 

challenge. The following applies: Under the provision of Section 288 of the Town 
& Country Planning Act 1990, or Section 63 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, a person or an establishment who is aggrieved 
by a decision may seek to have it quashed by making an application to the High 
Court on the following grounds: - 
 
1. That the decision is not within the powers of the Act; or 
2. That any of the relevant requirements have not been complied with;   

(relevant requirements means any requirements of the 1990 Act or of the 
Tribunal’s Land Enquiries Act 1992, or of any Order, Regulation or Rule 
made under those Acts). 

 
 
1 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

1.1. None required for the purposes of this report. 
 
 

2 TIMETABLE 
2.1. N/A 

 
3 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

Page 114

https://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000116000/1000116657/21P3938_Appeal%20Decision.pdf


3.1. There are financial implications for the Council in respect of appeal 
decisions where costs are awarded against the Council. 

 
 
 
4 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. An Inspector’s decision may be challenged in the High Court, within 6 
weeks of the date of the decision letter (see above). 
 

5 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. None for the purposes of this report. 
 

6 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
6.1. None for the purposes of this report. 

 
7 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. See 6.1 above. 
 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
8.1. The papers used to compile this report are the Council’s Development 
Control service’s Town Planning files relating to the sites referred to above and 
the agendas and minutes of the Planning Applications Committee where relevant. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

www.merton.gov.uk 

Committee: Planning Applications Committee  
 
Date:          16th March 2023 
 
Agenda item:      Enforcement Report 
 
Wards:                All 
 
Subject:              PLANNING ENFORCEMENT - SUMMARY OF RECENT WORK                      
 
Lead officer:       HEAD OF SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES 

 
 
 COUNCILLOR Aidan Mundy, CHAIR of PLANNING  APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
 
Contact Officer      Raymond Yeung: 0208 545 4352 

Raymond.Yeung@merton.gov.uk  
 

Recommendation:  

      That Members note the contents of the report. 

 

1.    Purpose of report and executive summary 
This report details a summary of casework being dealt with by the Planning 
Enforcement Team and contains figures of the number of different types of cases 
being progressed, with brief summaries of all new enforcement notices and the 
progress of all enforcement appeals.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 11

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

Current Enforcement Cases:   330    
New Complaints                        15 
Cases Closed                             38 
                                        
 
New Enforcement Notices Issued 
Breach of Condition Notices            0 
Enforcement Notices                        1       
S.215: 3                                            1                                          
Others (PCN, TSN)                         1       
Total                                   3      
 

New  Appeals:                       3    
Existing Appeals                             7   
There is a high volume of backlog at the Planning 
Inspectorates to determine appeals, the waiting time 
with them is several months, the existing appeals have 
not progressed with the inspectors.  

   

Prosecutions: (instructed)                    0       
New Instructions to Legal                  2      
Existing instructions to Legal            5 
________________________________________ 
 

TREE ISSUES 
Tree Applications Received                85   
    

% Determined within time limits:         99% 
High Hedges Complaint                        1    
New Tree Preservation Orders (TPO)   1     
Tree Replacement Notice                      0 
Tree/High Hedge Appeal                        0   
5-Day notice                                             1                  

 

 
Note (figures are for the period from (from 30th January 2022 to 3rd March 2023).  
1  S215 Notice:  Land Adversely Affecting Amenity of Neighbourhood. 

 

It should be noted that due to the pandemic the Planning Inspectorate have over 
a year’s backlog of planning enforcement appeals to determine. The Planning 
Inspectorate have recently stated that they are concentrating on the larger 
complexed schemes which take priority over householder and smaller cases.  
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 

Page 118

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

 

2.0   Recent Enforcement Actions 
 
Land at 93 Montacute Road – Asbestos  untidy land 
Officers visited the property and discussed with the developer, after negotiations, it 
was moved via informal enforcement action, the results are below. 
 

 
Photo taken Wednesday 15th Feb 2023 

 
Photo taken March 2023 
 
 

Page 119

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

156 Merton Hall Road - Before and after -Advertisement  
An advert was placed on the side of a restaurant  facing Kingston Road which is a 
designated Merton Hall Road conservation area, the advert had no consent . 
Officers visited the property and discussed with the owner and staff of the restaurant, 
after negotiations, it was moved via informal enforcement action, the results are below. 

 
Before-Advertisement of restaurant  

 
After advetisement removed  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

The Nelson trading estate Advertisement -Before and after 
Advert banners were placed on the fencing of the trading/retial park, officer discussed 
with the land owner to remove the banners from the boundary fencing 
 
Before -January 2023 

 
 
After February 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 121

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

        Burn Bullock – 315 London Road 
In March 2023, Planning enforcement notice was hand delivered at the site for the 
unauthorised material change of use of the public house main building and 
ancillary car parking to a large House of Multiple Occupation (“HMO”), car-repair 
and cleaning workshop, storage, scrapyard and installation of portacabins. 
The requirements are to; 1. permanently cease the unauthorised material change 
of use of the former public house main building and ancillary car parking to a 
House of Multiple Occupation within the main building on the Land; 2. 
Permanently cease the unauthorised material change of use of the car park on the 
land for storage, car-repair & cleaning workshop, scrapyard and stationing of 
mobile homes for residential accommodation (sui-generis) on the Land; 3. 
Completely remove all of the vehicles stored on site for commercial purposes on 
the Land; 4. Completely remove all of the scrap car parts, sofas, pallets, waste, 
and general rubbish on the Land; 5. Completely remove all of the portacabins, 
non-functioning vehicles, trailers, forklift and caravans on the Land; 6. Completely 
remove the caravans, trailers, vans and trucks used for mobile homes on the Land 
and; 7. Completely remove from the Land all associated materials, fixtures, fittings 
and debris and take off site on the Land. They have 3 months from the April 
effective date to comply with the notice unless an appeal has come in before the 
effective date. 

 
 

    52-54 High Street, Wimbledon, London SW19 5AY 
A noticed was served for the installation of roller shutters on the shopfront  

           The Subject site, is located on the east side of High Street, Wimbledon,  
          SW19 in the Wimbledon Village Conservation. The property comprises of 5  
          storey buildings with commercial premises on the ground floor and residential  
          accommodation above. The surrounding area comprises of commercial and  
          residential mix of properties. 
 

The case was served on the back of planning application ref: 21/P3884 for the  
retention of the shop front and the roller shutter was refused, it was considered 
harmful in the Wimbledon conservation area and to the street scene.  

 
Requirements of the Notice 

 
1. Permanently remove the roller shutters.  
2. Remove all materials, fixtures, fittings and debris associated in compliance with 

the works (1) above and permanently take off site.  
 

An appeal was submitted against this notice. 
Land at 129 Pelham Road Wimbledon London SW19 1NZ 
A notice was served for the unauthorised material change of use of  the Land 

from ancillary car parking for use class E to commercial car park (sui generis). 
 

Page 122

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

The breach relates to the change of use of the land from B1 storage and 
ancillary use car parking to offices and working of motor vehicles and  garages 
to the current use as a commercial car park in a residential area. 

            
The land rear of 129 Pelham Road, is in South Wimbledon within a residential area.  
The site is  within walking distance to Central Wimbledon, where there are good   
transport  links and access by train, bus, tubes and  multi-storey car parking facilities.  
  
As mentioned above, the land was used through various uses such as ancillary staff   
car parking for the surrounding offices or parking of cars relating to a  
workshop/garage  car repairs and ancillary cars to those businesses. They are  
restricted to either staff users or customers relating to the local business.  

  
The land is currently being used as an unattended commercial car park  open to the all 
of the public, operating from  7am -7pm. The running  of engines of vehicles entering 
and leaving the site results in noise disturbance and the increase of  air pollution to 
those who reside, work, visit and go to school in the area.   

  
The commercial car park is sited within a residential area, walking distance to central 
Wimbledon where there are good connections to public transport and car parks. The 
car park has changed from class B1 storage and light industrial with ancillary staff car 
park (restricting car park access to staff only during office hours)  to a unrestricted and 
unattended  commercial car park operating 7 days a week outside working hours of 
8am to 6pm Monday to Friday  This has an adverse impact in terms of noise, air 
pollution, road and crime safety on local residents, those who work, visit and go to 
school.   
  
The land is left unattended and abuts residential units which are easily accessed from 
the car park and is open to crime and anti-social behavior.  
  
By the virtue of  the siting of the land within a residential area being used in a 
commercial capacity  is unsympathetic to the locality. 
  
The commercial car park (sui generis) by reason of opening hours, unrestricted and 
unattended  vehicle movements, noise, disturbance and increased opportunities for 
potential anti-social behaviour and crime fails to protect the amenity of nearby 
residential occupiers. 
The unattended new car park use leads to unrestricted vehicle movements, and limited 
visibility splay entering/leaving the site on Pelham Road compromises highway safety 
for pedestrians and road users. 
 
Requirements of the Notice  

 
• To permanently cease the use of the land as a commercial car park (sui-

generis).  
• Permanently remove all paraphernalia relating to the new car park such as (but 

not limited to) advertising boards and directional signs.  
• Permanently remove all materials, fixtures, fittings and debris associated in 

compliance with the works (1) above and permanently take off site.   
  
An appeal was submitted against the notice. 

Page 123

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

Broken telecoms cabinets Middleton Road/ Lilleshall Road Muchelney 
Road 
A report was made with regards to Middleton Road/ Lilleshall Road Muchelney 
Road junction with regards to broken cabinets with a potential issue of  s215 
untidy land. Our officers went out on site to inspect to find the contact details to 
the telecommunications company Virgin Media who are responsible. The 
officer negotiated to fix these boxes without requiring any formal action. The 
matter resolved 2 months later as shown below and is a visual improvement to 
the streetscene and health and safety of the public. 
 
 
Before 

 
After 

                

 
 

Land to the rear of 42 Tamworth Lane, Mitcham, CR4 1DA. 
The council will be re-serving a notice but to reinstate the garage and rear 
boundary adjacent to Acacia Road. 
The planning enforcement team have been working with the police and anti-
social behaviour team to find a solution to board up the site, the process is 
ongoing. 
To summarise: 

Page 124

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

A s215 notice was issued on 10th May 2021. This notice requires compliance at 
the end of July 2021 requiring the Land to be tidied up / cleared.  
The Land is again being fly tipped a further s215 Notice was issued on February 
2023 including enclosing and clearing the untidy / overgrown Land.  
 

 
 
  
28 Oakleigh Way, Mitcham, CR4 1AL 
This notice is intended to resolve the breach of planning control relating to the 
unauthorised conversion of the rear extension into a self-contained unit and rear 
canopy. 
The conversion of rear extension to a self-contained unit would deliver one 
additional residential unit within the borough, which is a strategic objection of the 
Council. However, the local development framework also requires that 
development have a high quality design and form that responds to the local area, 
parking provisions should maintain the safe and efficient operation of the highway, 
and proposals should not adversely impact adjoining neighbours. Weighing  
up the merits of the scheme the proposal is considered unacceptable due to the 
standard of accommodation, impact on the local highway and absence of cycle 
and refuse storage. 

 
The rear canopy is not be sympathetic in terms of massing, form or overall design. 
Although it is at the rear, it is assessed not to be sympathetic to its surroundings. It 
is inappropriate in terms of scale and design. Therefore it is considered expedient 
to issue the notice. The notice requires to cease the self-contained residential unit 
and to remove the canopy. An appeal is in for this notice. 
 
8 Dahlia Gardens 
On 16th August 2022 the Council issued an enforcement notice he unauthorised 
construction of an upper-floor extension to an existing detached outbuilding 
without the benefit of planning permission. This came immediately after the refusal 
of planning application for the same under ref no. 22/P1540. 

 
What was single storey outbuilding was altered into a two storey outbuilding, and 
by reason of its design and form fails to blend and integrate well with its 
surroundings, is considered to be unduly dominant and visually intrusive, having a 
negative impact on the character and appearance of Dahlia Gardens and Hadley 
Road. It created unacceptable loss of light, privacy and outlook toward the 
adjoining properties along Dahlia Gardens and Hadley Road.  
 
Officers served a Notice of Entry to visit in March. 

      
  

Page 125

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

 
100 Garth Road, Morden, SM4 4LR. Relates to the unauthorised erection of a 
self-contained residential unit on top of an existing garage. An enforcement 
notice has been served dated 28th March 2022, the Notice will take effect on 2nd 
May 2022 with a 3 months compliance period unless an appeal is submitted. 
The notice requires: Completely demolish the Unit or Restore that part of the 
property to its condition prior to the breach of planning control by complying with 
approved drawing number E-1672-PJ-03A planning permission 17/P2214. 
Appeal is within the planning inspectorates. 
 

 
 
Successful Prosecution case-update 
 
7 Streatham Road, Mitcham, CR4 2AD- Summary of the prosecution; 
The Council served two enforcement notices on 6th June 2019 for the unauthourised 
outbuilding and roof extension, the enforcement notice required the outbuilding to be 
demolished and to clear debris and all other related materials. Following the non-
compliance of said notices, this is a criminal offence which lead to prosecution 
proceedings. 
 
The plea hearing took place at Lavender Hill Magistrates Court, where the defendant 
pleaded not guilty and the second hearing is due on the 14th January 2020. 
A second hearing was held on 14th January 2020, and adjourned until 4th February 
2020 in order for the defendant to seek further legal advice. 
The defendant again appeared in court and pleaded not guilty, a trial date was set for 
21st May 2020. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic this has been postponed. The case has 
been listed for a ‘non-effective’ hearing on Tuesday 14 July 2020, where a new trial 
date will be set.  
This was postponed until another date yet to be given. The Council has now instructed 
external Counsel to prosecute in these matters. 
The next ‘non-effective’ hearing date is 2nd October 2020. This date has been re-
scheduled to 27th November 2020. This was again re-scheduled to 4th January 2021. 
Outcome not known at the time of compiling this report. 
A trial date has now been set for 28th and 29th April 2021. 
At trial the defendant changed his plea from not guilty to guilty on the two charges of 
failing to comply with the two Planning Enforcement Notices, however due to the 
current appeals with the Planning Inspectorate relating to two planning application 
appeals associated with the two illegal developments, sentencing was deferred until 
7th October 2021 at Wimbledon Magistrates Court.  
The two planning appeals were dismissed dated 5th October 2021.  
Sentencing was again deferred until 16th December 2021 at Wimbledon Magistrates 
Court.  

Page 126

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

The result of the sentencing hearing was: 
1. Fine for the outbuilding EN: £6,000, reduced by 10% so £5,400 
2. Fine for the dormer EN: £12,000,reduced by 10% so £10,800 
3. Surcharge: £181 
4. Costs: £14,580 
5. Total being £30,961. To be paid over a period of three years in monthly        
instalments. 
 
The defendant was fined for the outbuilding and the dormer extensions due to non- 
compliance with two enforcement notices. 
 
Latest 
Enforcement officers have written to the landowner to state that The Council is minded 
to take direct action to undertake the works to secure compliance with the enforcement 
notices, pursuant to section 178, Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
This would result in further costs that would be recoverable from them directly. 
 
To date the notice still has not been complied with, in October 2022, a meeting was 
taken place with a contractor to get quotes for the removal of both outbuilding and roof 
extension and rebuilding of the roof.  
Quotes were received in November 2022 and discussions were had internally in view 
to accept one of the tasks involved to do it in stages due to budget reasons (removal of 
outbuilding first and then dormer and rebuild later), it is understood that any agreement 
of such works needs approval by the council.  
The council warned about direct action to the owner and responded back in February 
that they have not complied with the notice yet and not able to, the council are looking 
into going ahead with direct action.  

 
3.4 Requested update from PAC 

  
None 
 

4. Consultation undertaken or proposed 
None required for the purposes of this report 

5 Timetable  

                N/A 

6. Financial, resource and property implications 
N/A 

Page 127

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


 

www.merton.gov.uk 

7. Legal and statutory implications 
N/A 

8. Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications 
N/A 

9. Crime and disorder implications 
N/A 

10. Risk Management and Health and Safety implications.  
N/A 

11. Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this 
report and form part of the report Background Papers  

N/A 
 

Page 128

http://www.merton.gov.uk/


Page 129

Agenda Item 12



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134


	Agenda
	5 115 Kingston Road, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1LT
	PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
	GRANT Planning Permission Subject to Conditions and S106 Agreement

	Conditions:
	02) Site Plan (4)
	03) 22P2865_Proposed 3D Renders
	04) 22P2865_Proposed Plans and Elevations_Amended_09.01.2023
	Sheets and Views
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P BF
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P GF
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P FF
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P SF
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P R
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P FE
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P RE
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P E3
	V5, Rev A, 115 Kingston Road, SW19 1LT-P E4


	05) 22P2865_Proposed Sections, Proposed Refuse Storage Plan, Proposed Bike Storage Plan and Proposed Materials
	06) Site Location & Block Plan

	6 310-356 Grand Drive, Raynes Park, London, SW20 9NQ
	01)_Committee Report.pdf (p.1-22)
	02) Site Plan.pdf (p.23)

	7 153 Links Road, Tooting, London, SW17 9EW
	01) Report - 153 Links Road.pdf (p.1-13)
	02) Site Plan.pdf (p.14)
	03) 23P0237_BDS Cycle Shelter.pdf (p.15-20)
	04) 23P0237_Proposed Plans & Elevations_Amended 23.02.2023.pdf (p.21)
	05) 23P0237_Site Location Plan.pdf (p.22)

	8 Objection to the Merton (No.784) Tree Preservation Order 2022 at 12 Thurleston Avenue, Morden, SM4 4BW
	Plan

	10 Planning Appeal Decisions
	Subject: Planning Appeal Decisions
	That Members note the contents of the report.
	1.	Purpose of report and executive summary
	1.1	For Members’ information recent decisions made by Inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in respect of recent Town Planning Appeals are set out below.
	1.2	The relevant Inspectors decision letters are not attached to this report but can be viewed by following each individual link. Other agenda papers for this meeting can be viewed on the Committee Page of the Council Website via the following link:
	LINK TO COMMITTEE PAGE

	Details
	Date of Appeal Decision:	7th February 2023
	Withdrawal Date:		6th February 2023
	2.	That any of the relevant requirements have not been complied with;   (relevant requirements means any requirements of the 1990 Act or of the Tribunal’s Land Enquiries Act 1992, or of any Order, Regulation or Rule made under those Acts).

	1	Consultation undertaken or proposed
	1.1.	None required for the purposes of this report.

	2	Timetable
	2.1.	N/A

	3	Financial, resource and property implications
	3.1.	There are financial implications for the Council in respect of appeal decisions where costs are awarded against the Council.

	4	Legal and statutory implications
	4.1.	An Inspector’s decision may be challenged in the High Court, within 6 weeks of the date of the decision letter (see above).

	5	Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications
	5.1.	None for the purposes of this report.

	6	Crime and Disorder implications
	6.1.	None for the purposes of this report.

	7	Risk management and health and safety implications
	7.1.	See 6.1 above.

	8	Background papers
	8.1.	The papers used to compile this report are the Council’s Development Control service’s Town Planning files relating to the sites referred to above and the agendas and minutes of the Planning Applications Committee where relevant.



	11 Planning Enforcement - Summary of Current Cases
	Contact Officer      Raymond Yeung: 0208 545 4352
	Raymond.Yeung@merton.gov.uk
	1.    Purpose of report and executive summary
	2.0	Recent Enforcement Actions
	Land at 93 Montacute Road – Asbestos  untidy land
	Officers visited the property and discussed with the developer, after negotiations, it was moved via informal enforcement action, the results are below.
	Photo taken Wednesday 15th Feb 2023
	Photo taken March 2023

	156 Merton Hall Road - Before and after -Advertisement
	An advert was placed on the side of a restaurant  facing Kingston Road which is a designated Merton Hall Road conservation area, the advert had no consent .
	Officers visited the property and discussed with the owner and staff of the restaurant, after negotiations, it was moved via informal enforcement action, the results are below.
	Before-Advertisement of restaurant
	After advetisement removed
	The Nelson trading estate Advertisement -Before and after
	Advert banners were placed on the fencing of the trading/retial park, officer discussed with the land owner to remove the banners from the boundary fencing
	Before -January 2023
	After February 2023
	Burn Bullock – 315 London Road
	In March 2023, Planning enforcement notice was hand delivered at the site for the unauthorised material change of use of the public house main building and ancillary car parking to a large House of Multiple Occupation (“HMO”), car-repair and cleaning workshop, storage, scrapyard and installation of portacabins.
	The requirements are to; 1. permanently cease the unauthorised material change of use of the former public house main building and ancillary car parking to a House of Multiple Occupation within the main building on the Land; 2. Permanently cease the unauthorised material change of use of the car park on the land for storage, car-repair & cleaning workshop, scrapyard and stationing of mobile homes for residential accommodation (sui-generis) on the Land; 3. Completely remove all of the vehicles stored on site for commercial purposes on the Land; 4. Completely remove all of the scrap car parts, sofas, pallets, waste, and general rubbish on the Land; 5. Completely remove all of the portacabins, non-functioning vehicles, trailers, forklift and caravans on the Land; 6. Completely remove the caravans, trailers, vans and trucks used for mobile homes on the Land and; 7. Completely remove from the Land all associated materials, fixtures, fittings and debris and take off site on the Land. They have 3 months from the April effective date to comply with the notice unless an appeal has come in before the effective date.
	52-54 High Street, Wimbledon, London SW19 5AY
	A noticed was served for the installation of roller shutters on the shopfront
	An appeal was submitted against this notice.
	Land at 129 Pelham Road Wimbledon London SW19 1NZ
	A notice was served for the unauthorised material change of use of  the Land from ancillary car parking for use class E to commercial car park (sui generis).
	The breach relates to the change of use of the land from B1 storage and ancillary use car parking to offices and working of motor vehicles and  garages to the current use as a commercial car park in a residential area.
	An appeal was submitted against the notice.
	Broken telecoms cabinets Middleton Road/ Lilleshall Road Muchelney Road
	A report was made with regards to Middleton Road/ Lilleshall Road Muchelney Road junction with regards to broken cabinets with a potential issue of  s215 untidy land. Our officers went out on site to inspect to find the contact details to the telecommunications company Virgin Media who are responsible. The officer negotiated to fix these boxes without requiring any formal action. The matter resolved 2 months later as shown below and is a visual improvement to the streetscene and health and safety of the public.
	Before
	After
	Land to the rear of 42 Tamworth Lane, Mitcham, CR4 1DA.
	The council will be re-serving a notice but to reinstate the garage and rear boundary adjacent to Acacia Road.
	The planning enforcement team have been working with the police and anti-social behaviour team to find a solution to board up the site, the process is ongoing.
	To summarise:
	A s215 notice was issued on 10th May 2021. This notice requires compliance at the end of July 2021 requiring the Land to be tidied up / cleared.
	The Land is again being fly tipped a further s215 Notice was issued on February 2023 including enclosing and clearing the untidy / overgrown Land.
	28	Oakleigh Way, Mitcham, CR4 1AL
	This notice is intended to resolve the breach of planning control relating to the unauthorised conversion of the rear extension into a self-contained unit and rear canopy.
	8 Dahlia Gardens
	On 16th August 2022 the Council issued an enforcement notice he unauthorised construction of an upper-floor extension to an existing detached outbuilding without the benefit of planning permission. This came immediately after the refusal of planning application for the same under ref no. 22/P1540.
	100 Garth Road, Morden, SM4 4LR. Relates to the unauthorised erection of a self-contained residential unit on top of an existing garage. An enforcement notice has been served dated 28th March 2022, the Notice will take effect on 2nd May 2022 with a 3 months compliance period unless an appeal is submitted. The notice requires: Completely demolish the Unit or Restore that part of the property to its condition prior to the breach of planning control by complying with approved drawing number E-1672-PJ-03A planning permission 17/P2214. Appeal is within the planning inspectorates.

	4.	Consultation undertaken or proposed
	None required for the purposes of this report

	5	Timetable
	N/A
	6.	Financial, resource and property implications
	N/A

	7.	Legal and statutory implications
	N/A

	8.	Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications
	N/A

	9.	Crime and disorder implications
	N/A

	10.	Risk Management and Health and Safety implications.
	N/A

	11.	Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report Background Papers
	N/A


	12 Glossary of Terms

